
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, MARCH 12, 2024 – 7:00 PM 

Anyone wishing to address the city council regarding any topic on this agenda is requested to complete a 

card available at the city clerk's desk.  Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments to three 

(3) minutes. 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Pastor Bob Cook, Praise in the Park 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

PRESENTATIONS 

1. FMPA - March 2024 Bob Page 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Second and Final reading of Ordinance No. O-05-2024 which authorizes Magnolia West 

Community Development District (the “District”) to use special powers for security facilities 

within their subdivision.  L.J. Arnold III 

3. Second and Final reading of Ordinance No. O-06-2024 to comply with newly enacted Section 

166.041(4), Florida Statutes, requiring a Business Impact Estimate to be prepared and filed on all 

non-exempt ordinances.  L.J. Arnold III 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

4. City Council approval of the National Public Safety Telecommunicators Week 

Proclamation.  Erin West 

5. City Council approval of the Water Conservation Month Proclamation.  Erin West 

Page 1



March 12, 2024 Agenda Page 2 of 3 

 

 

6. City Council approval of the Mt. Zion Church Proclamation.  Erin West 

7. City Council approval for Atlantic Pipe Services (APS) to clean and televise (TV) 2,000 linear 

feet (LF) of stormwater pipe in the Cove subdivision in the amount of $29,952.00.  Greg Bauer 

8. City Council authorization to submit a Florida Boating Improvement Program (FBIP) grant 

application to the FWC to fund completion of the City Pier extension and approval of Resolution 

R-06-2024, authorizing the City Manager to sign and submit same. Mike Null 

9. City Council approval of funding in the amount of $99,200.00 to RCM Utilities for a total 

rehabilitation of Lift Station # 326, Winn Dixie, “piggybacking” on the City of Clermont 

Contract # 2023-072.  Scott Schultz 

10. City Council approval of, and authorization for the mayor to execute, a contract between Sundew 

Mitigation Bank, LLC and the City for purchase of mitigation credits (property) for release of 

conservation property from the St. Johns River Water Management District, to replace a sewer 

force main, or convert from force main to gravity sewer, for Lift Station # 318 / Shinnecock, in 

Magnolia Point.  The cost of the 0.69 credits (approximately 0.21 acres) is $34,500.00.  Scott 

Schultz 

11. City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to 

execute, the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund, Design Loan Agreement DW 100440, in the 

amount of $2,195,000.00, for the design and permitting of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water 

System and Reynolds Water Treatment Plant Improvements.  Scott Schultz 

12. City Council approval of the Owens Subdivision, a replat of a portion of Block 46, North 

Suburbs of Green Cove Springs, identified as 900 and 902 Myrtle Avenue.  Michael Daniels 

13. City Council authorization to surplus sound system equipment and donate to Clamour Theatre 

Company. Mike Null 

14. City Council approval of the Spring Park dock project pay app # 2 to C&H Marine in the amount 

of $70,131.61.  Steve Thomas 

15. City Council approval of the Alice Johnson Williams 100th Birthday Proclamation.  Erin West 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

16. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

17. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

Page 2



March 12, 2024 Agenda Page 3 of 3 

 

 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 3



February 2024 

 

Rate Call 

 

The average price of natural gas for the month was $3.70. Daily natural gas prices for the past 

month have fall to under $2.00 with a low of $1.55. This price level is driven by very mild winter 

weather and natural gas storage at maximum capacity. 

 

Natural gas accounted for 76% of the generation mix. Coal was 10% and nuclear was 6%. Solar 

generation was 1%. 

 

The peak for the month was 21 January at 7 AM. 

 

Board of Directors 

 

There were no action items. 

 

Information items were the annual debt report, Member Services Advisory Committee one read 

approval, Member Services Leased Employee Program, rate strategy update and update on 

Stanton Energy Center plans. 

 

Executive Committee  

 

There were no actions items. 

 

Information items were the annual debit report, Sand Lake Energy Center purchase closing, gas 

price stability program discussion, and FPL transmission rate filing. 

 

Energy Resources 
 

None 

Page 4

Item #1.



Executive Committee

EC 9c– Natural Gas/Power Price Stability Program 
What-If Scenarios

February 15, 2024
Page 61 of 76 Page 5

Item #1.



$70/MWh Cost Target in 2019 Does Not Consider Inflation

2

• EC set $70/MWh cost goal in 2019

• Inflation from 2019 through 2023 was ~22% (CPI)

• $70 in 2019 equivalent to $85 today

• ARP seeing significant increases in O&M and transmission costs

• With inflation, $70/MWh no longer a realistic target

• Wholesale power costs in the $77 – 82/MWh range competitive

Page 62 of 76 Page 6

Item #1.



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Ap
r-

24

Ju
l-2

4

O
ct

-2
4

Ja
n-

25

Ap
r-

25

Ju
l-2

5

O
ct

-2
5

Ja
n-

26

Ap
r-

26

Ju
l-2

6

O
ct

-2
6

Ja
n-

27

Max Position

Proposed Max Mitigation Position

• Long-Term Vision:
 Plan strategically with a focus on a 

3-year horizon for robust long-
term planning.

• Structured Cycles:
 Implement rolling 12-month cycles 

for agile and focused management

• Controlled Implementation:
 Each tier considered the maximum 

mitigated

3

Conservative Percentages 

75% at
12-months

50% at 
24-months

25% at 
36-months

Page 63 of 76 Page 7

Item #1.



Results of “What-if” Price Stability After Budget Approved

4

Program Started June 2020 Shows Savings of $87 Million

 $-

 $1.00

 $2.00

 $3.00

 $4.00

 $5.00

 $6.00

 $7.00

 $8.00

 $9.00

 $10.00

NYMEX Settle Price

What-if Scenario
Current Forward Curve

Page 64 of 76 Page 8

Item #1.



Results of “What-if” Price Stability After Budget Approved

5

Program Started June 2021 Shows Savings of $55 Million

 $-

 $1.00

 $2.00

 $3.00

 $4.00

 $5.00

 $6.00

 $7.00

 $8.00

 $9.00

 $10.00

Jun-21 Oct-21 Feb-22 Jun-22 Oct-22 Feb-23 Jun-23 Oct-23 Feb-24 Jun-24 Oct-24 Feb-25 Jun-25 Oct-25 Feb-26 Jun-26 Oct-26

NYMEX Settle Price

What-if Senario Current Forward Curve

Page 65 of 76 Page 9

Item #1.



Gas Price Stability Program to date  

6

Premium of $74M Has Already Been Paid

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

$0

$1

$2

$3

$4

$5

$6

$7

$8

$9

Sep-2022 Dec-2022 Mar-2023 Jun-2023 Sep-2023 Dec-2023 Mar-2024 Jun-2024 Sep-2024 Dec-2024 Mar-2025 Jun-2025 Sep-2025 Dec-2025 Mar-2026

% Managed 

Fixed Gas Price

Page 66 of 76 Page 10

Item #1.



$1.50

$2.00

$2.50

$3.00

$3.50

$4.00

$4.50

$5.00

$5.50

$6.00

Mar-24 Jul-24 Nov-24 Mar-25 Jul-25 Nov-25 Mar-26 Jul-26 Nov-26 Mar-2

Short-term Oversupply Drops Prices to Trading Lows

7

FY 2025 Price Premium Remains

Average Price
2024 Budget

Current Forward Curve

Page 67 of 76 Page 11

Item #1.



Future Rate Projections 

8

Seasonal overview of pricing affecting rates 

Summer Date 
Ranges

Current / Target 
Gas Price ($/MMBtu) Rate ($/MWh)

Apr 24 – Oct 24 N/A > 75% Fixed

April 25 - Oct 25 $3.20 / $3.33 $78.40

April 26 - Oct 26 $3.48 / $3.56 $76.90

Winter Date 
Ranges

Current / Target 
Gas Price ($/MMBtu)

Rate 
($/MWh)

Nov 24 - Mar 25 $3.35 / $2.77 $82.37

Nov 25 - Mar 26 $4.07 / $3.04 $85.00

Nov 26 - Mar 27 $4.27 / $2.80 $85.00

Page 68 of 76 Page 12

Item #1.



Target Achievable For Next Summer

9

Long-Term Market Pricing In LNG Risks

Current Forward Curve

Price Trigger

$1.50

$2.00

$2.50

$3.00

$3.50

$4.00

$4.50

$5.00

$5.50

$6.00

Mar-24 Jul-24 Nov-24 Mar-25 Jul-25 Nov-25 Mar-26 Jul-26 Nov-26 Mar-27

Current Forward Curve

Target Price

Page 69 of 76 Page 13

Item #1.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: L.J. Arnold III, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: Second and Final reading of Ordinance No. O-05-2024 which authorizes Magnolia West 

Community Development District (the “District”) to use special powers for security 

facilities within their subdivision.  L.J. Arnold III 
 

BACKGROUND 

My office was approached in November 2023, by the District as set forth in the attached letter from their 

attorney, Kuta Rock LLP, to request the City’s consent for the District to operate certain security 

facilities with their subdivision.  We have also received a follow up letter from the attorney on February 

5, 2024, which is attached.  Our staff has been copied with all and have no objections to the District’s 

request.  We will need to pass an ordinance to consent to their future actions. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

RECOMMENDATION 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. O-05-2024 on second and final reading. 
 

Page 14

Item #2.



ORDINANCE NO. O-05-2024 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, GRANTING CONSENT TO 

THE MAGNOLIA WEST COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT’S EXERCISE OF CERTAIN SPECIAL POWERS 

RELATED TO SECURITY INFRASTRUCTURE PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 190.012(2)(D), FLORIDA STATUTES ; AMENDING 

ORDINANCE NO. O-05-2005 TO INCLUDE THIS CONSENT; 

PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, SEVERABILITY, CODIFICATION, 

AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the Magnolia West Community Development District (the “District”) 

was established by Ordinance O-05-2005, on April 12, 2005; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 190.012(2), Florida Statutes (2023), the Board of 

Supervisors (“Board”) of the District has adopted Resolution 2023-06 to request that 

the City of Green Cove Springs (“City”) grant its consent for the District to exercise 

the special power set forth in Section 190.012(2)(d), Fla. Stat., to plan, establish, 

acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain 

additional systems and facilities for security facilities including, but not limited to, 

guardhouses, fences and gates, electronic intrusion-detection systems, and patrol cars, 

when authorized by proper governmental agencies (“Special Powers”); and 

 

WHEREAS, based upon the materials submitted by the CDD, the City Council finds 

there is good reason to grant the District’s request for Special Powers. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA: 

 

SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The above RECITALS are 

adopted as Findings of Fact in support of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 2. GRANT OF CONSENT.  Pursuant to the CDD’s request for Special 

Powers and in accordance with Section 190.012(2), Florida Statutes (2023), the City’s 

consent is hereby granted to the CDD to exercise the power to plan, establish, acquire, 

construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain additional 

systems and facilities for security facilities including, but not limited to, guardhouses, 

fences and gates, electronic intrusion-detection systems, and patrol cars, when 

authorized by proper governmental agencies, all the foregoing to be exercised only in 

compliance and consistent with all applicable laws including the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan and City’s land development regulations.  

 

SECTION 3. CODIFICATION.  It is the intention of the City Council, and it is 

hereby ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made part 

of the Code of the City of Green Cove Springs as amended; that the sections of this 

Page 15

Item #2.



Ordinance No. O-05-2024 

Page 2 of 3 

 

Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention; and that the 

word “ordinance” may be changed to “section” or other appropriate word. 

 

SECTION 4. AMENDMENT; CONFLICT.  This Ordinance amends and 

supplements Ordinance No. O-05-2005 to the extent that it grants additional Special 

Power to the District. Any ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the provisions 

of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. For avoidance of 

doubt, the special power of the District with respect to its power to plan, establish, 

acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain 

additional systems and facilities for parks and facilities for indoor and outdoor 

recreational, cultural and educational uses, as authorized by Section190.012(2)(a), 

Florida Statutes, as amended, and consented to by the City pursuant to Ordinance No. 

O-05-2005 shall continue to be in full force and effect and not changed by this 

Ordinance.  

 

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY.  The various parts, sections and clauses of this 

Ordinance are hereby declared severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, section or 

clause is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 

remainder of this Ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

 

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall become effective 

immediately upon adoption. 

  

Page 16

Item #2.



Ordinance No. O-05-2024 

Page 3 of 3 

 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READIN BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ON THIS 20TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2024. 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 12TH DAY OF 

MARCH, 2024. 

 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 17

Item #2.



Page 18

Item #2.



Page 19

Item #2.



Page 20

Item #2.



Page 21

Item #2.



Page 22

Item #2.



Page 23

Item #2.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: L.J. Arnold III, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: Second and Final reading of Ordinance No. O-06-2024 to comply with newly enacted 

Section 166.041(4), Florida Statutes, requiring a Business Impact Estimate to be prepared 

and filed on all non-exempt ordinances.  L.J. Arnold III 
 

BACKGROUND 

The Florida Legislature and Governor were busy during this past legislative session enacting more 

unfunded mandates that translate into more work and additional liability to local governments. Attached 

find a summary prepared by Rebecca O’Hara, Deputy General Counsel, FLC, of a few of those new 

laws. The one exception allows us to continue an ordinance without re-notification under certain 

circumstances. The most onerous change in the law is discussed in Section 3 of Ms. O’Hara’s 

memorandum and is the subject of the ordinance being now presented. The actual text of these laws is 

attached hereto for your reference. Several examples of a form for the Business Impact Estimate are also 

attached and can be easily modified by staff. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Undetermined at this time, but additional staff time will be required to comply with some of these new 

laws. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. O-06-2024 on second and final reading. 
 

Page 24

Item #3.



ORDINANCE NO. O-06-2024 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA; 

IMPLEMENTING THE STATE'S STATUTORY MANDATE TO PREPARE 

BUSINESS IMPACT ESTIMATES PRIOR TO THE ADOPTION OF 

PROPOSED ORDINANCES PURSUANT TO SECTION 166.041(4), FLORIDA 

STATUTES; PROVIDING FINDINGS; ADOPTING BUSINESS IMPACT 

ESTIMATE PROCEDURES, REQUIREMENTS, & EXEMPTIONS; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. FINDINGS. In adopting this Ordinance, the City Council of the 

City of Green Cove Springs, Florida (the "City") hereby makes and expresses the 

following findings, purposes, and intent: 

 

(1) The City has been conferred broad legislative powers to enact ordinances to 

perform governmental functions and exercise power to promote the health, welfare, 

safety, and quality of life of a local government's residents by both the Florida 

Constitution and the Florida Legislature. 

 

(2) The procedures for adopting municipal ordinances are set forth in Section 

166.041, Florida Statutes. 

 

(3) The Florida Constitution grants cities broad authority to take actions 

furthering citizens' health, welfare, safety, and quality of life called "home rule," and 

this authority includes legislative powers to enact local laws. 

 

(4) Florida cities have those governmental, corporate, and proprietary powers 

that enable them to conduct municipal government, perform their functions and 

provide municipal services, and exercise any power for municipal purposes, except 

as otherwise provided by law. 

 

(5) These home rule powers have been liberally construed when reviewed by 

courts. 

 

(6) This broad home rule authority is limited by two guideposts: preemption, 

where a higher level of government such as the State has already legislated on a topic, 

and standards of reasonableness. 

 

(7) A municipal ordinance can be declared invalid on the grounds that it is 

inconsistent with the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes, and 

inconsistency may be found where a city ordinance is either preempted by or 

in conflict with the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes. 

Page 25

Item #3.



Ordinance No. O-06-2024 

Page 2 of 4 

(8) A municipal ordinance can also be declared invalid on the grounds 

that it is arbitrary or unreasonable, meaning that it has no legitimate  

governmental interest. However, city ordinances are presumed valid by courts 

reviewing them, and the burden falls on the challenger to establish the 

ordinance's arbitrary or unreasonable nature. 

 

(9) Under newly adopted Section 166.041(4), Florida Statutes, municipal 

ordinances adopted in Florida may be subject to local challenge based upon 

failure to produce a "business impact estimate." 

 

(10) If a court invalidates an ordinance, this ruling may result in imposition of 

attorneys' fees against a city if an ordinance is later determined to be arbitrary or 

unreasonable. 

 

(11) The Florida Legislature also adopted a statutory mandate that cities produce 

a "business impact estimate" prior to passing an ordinance, subject to certain 

exemptions and exceptions. 

 

(12) The statute (Chapter 2023-309, Laws of Florida, codified as Section 

166.041(4), Florida Statutes) mandates that the estimate must be published on the 

city's website and include certain information, such as the proposed ordinance's 

purpose, estimated economic impact on businesses, and compliance costs.  

 

(13) This unfunded state mandate also imposes certain conditions on lawsuits 

brought by any party to challenge the legal validity of local ordinances as preempted 

by state law, arbitrary, or unreasonable. 

 

(14) The state has created a number of exemptions for certain specified 

ordinances, including 

 Ordinances required to comply with federal or state laws or regulations  

 Ordinances relating to the issuance or refinancing of debt 

 Ordinances relating to the adoption of budgets or budget amendments, 

including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget 

 Ordinances required to implement a contract or agreement, including grants or 

financial assistance 

 Emergency ordinances 

 Ordinances relating to procurement 

 Ordinances enacted to Implement: Part II, Ch. 163, including land development 

regulations, zoning, development orders, development agreements, and 

development permits; Sections 190.005 and 190.046 (CDDs); the Florida 

Building Code; the Florida Fire Prevention Code. 

 

(15) The City Council has provided all necessary public notice and held the 

requisite public hearings and accepted testimony and other competent, substantial 

evidence from the public for purposes of making these findings and determining to 

adopt this ordinance. 

Page 26

Item #3.



Ordinance No. O-06-2024 

Page 3 of 4 

SECTION 2. CREATION OF SECTION -15, CODE OF ORDINANCES;  

IMPLEMENTATION OF STATUTORY MANDATE TO PERFORM 

BUSINESS  IMPACT ESTIMATES. Section 1-15 of the Code of Ordinances 

of the  City of Green Cove Springs , Florida (hereafter "the Code") is hereby created 

to read as follows: 

 

"Sec. 1-15. Implementation of Statutory Mandate to Perform  

Business Impact Estimates. The City Council hereby adopts an ordinance  to 

implement the Florida statutory mandate contained in § 166.041(4), Florida  

Statutes, to perform business impact estimates prior to the adoption of certain  

ordinances as specified in the statute. The City Council shall perform a business 

impact statement in accordance with the requirements of the statute for  all 

ordinances not exempted by §§ 166.041(4)(c) or 166.0411, Florida Statutes,  and 

may in its sole discretion determine to perform a business impact statement  for 

any ordinance that is exempt under the statute. Nothing contained herein is  

intended to create additional mandates for performing the business impact  

estimates of exempt ordinances or to waive any exemption. The City hereby  

authorizes and adopts a pass through charge applicable to any person, firm,  

entity, or business which requests or sponsors the adoption of an ordinance  solely 

to assess, cover, and collect the fees, deposits, costs, and expenses  relating to 

pertaining to the preparation of the business impact estimate. The  City may in its 

sole discretion waive this pass through charge." 

 

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY. If any provision or portion of this 

Ordinance is declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be void, 

unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and portions of this 

Ordinance shall remain in full effect. 

 

SECTION 4. CONFLICTS. Should any provision contained in this Ordinance 

conflict with any prior provision of the Code or any City ordinance, then the provisions 

of this ordinance shall control. 

 

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately. 
 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ON THIS 20TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 

       

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

              

                                                                        Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 27

Item #3.



Ordinance No. O-06-2024 

Page 4 of 4 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 12TH DAY OF 

MARCH 2024. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

              

                                                                        Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 28

Item #3.



Page 29

Item #3.



Page 30

Item #3.



Page 31

Item #3.



Page 32

Item #3.



Page 33

Item #3.



Page 34

Item #3.



Page 35

Item #3.



Page 36

Item #3.



Page 37

Item #3.



Page 38

Item #3.



Page 39

Item #3.



Page 40

Item #3.



Page 41

Item #3.



Page 42

Item #3.



Page 43

Item #3.



Page 44

Item #3.



Page 45

Item #3.



Page 46

Item #3.



Page 47

Item #3.



Page 48

Item #3.



Page 49

Item #3.



Page 50

Item #3.



Page 51

Item #3.



Page 52

Item #3.



Page 53

Item #3.



Page 54

Item #3.



Page 55

Item #3.



Page 56

Item #3.



Page 57

Item #3.



Page 58

Item #3.



Page 59

Item #3.



Page 60

Item #3.



Page 61

Item #3.



Page 62

Item #3.



Page 63

Item #3.



Page 64

Item #3.



Page 65

Item #3.



Proclamation 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    
 

 
  

 

 
 

  
 

 

       
 

 
       
 
 
 
              
       
 
       
 
 
 

              
      Erin West, City Clerk 

             
 

                
            

           
 

            
 
 

    

              
              

             

             

           
        
             

    
 

            
            

Constance W. Butler, Mayor

ATTEST:

WHEREAS,  the  professional  Public  Safety  Telecommunicators  in  the  City  of  Green  Cove 
Springs  play a crucial role in the protection of life, property and delivery of Public  Safety 
Services; and

WHEREAS,  each  day,  City  of  Green  Cove  Springs  citizens  call  for  help  in  emergency 
situations,  and  the  Telecommunicators  are the first and most critical contact who  answer 
these  calls  for  help  gather  essential  information  and  dispatch  the  appropriate  assistance,
often  making  the  difference  between life and death for persons in  need; and

WHEREAS,  these  well  trained,  highly  dedicated,  and  deeply  motivated  individuals  serve 
the citizens of the City of Green Cove Springs twenty-four hours a day, seven days  a week, and 
during extreme situations, such as hurricanes, are unable to be with their families to  protect 
their own personal homes and property; and

WHEREAS,  the  Congress  of  the  United  States  has  proclaimed  its  support  and 
recognition  to  these  employees  and  their  profession,  and  the  City  Council  wishes  to  publicly
recognize  the  Telecommunicators  who  serve  the  citizens  of  the  City  of  Green  Cove  Springs,
Florida in such a professional manner.

NOW,  THEREFORE,  WE,  THE  CITY  COUNCIL  OF  THE  CITY  OF  GREEN  COVE
SPRINGS DO HEREBY PROCLAIM:

1. The  week  of  April  14-20,  2024  to  be  “National  Public
Safety  Telecommunicators  Week”  in  Green  Cove Springs  and  urge  citizens 
to take  time  to  recognize  and  share  their  appreciation  for  the  efforts  and 
dedication  of  the City of Green Cove Springs Police Department’s 
Telecommunicators.

2. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the  Official  Minutes  of the 
City Council of the City of  Green Cove Springs.

DONE  AND  PROCLAIMED  IN  REGULAR  SESSION  BY  THE  CITY  COUNCIL  OF 
THE  CITY  OF  GREEN  COVE  SPRINGS,  FLORIDA,  THIS  2ND  DAY  OF  APRIL, 
2024.

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

Page 66

Item #4.



Proclamation 

WHEREAS, water is a basic and essential need of every living creature; and  

 

WHEREAS, the State of Florida, Water Management Districts, and the City of Green Cove Springs are 

working together to increase awareness about the importance of water conservation; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Green Cove Springs and the State of Florida has designated April, typically a dry 

month when water demands are most acute, Florida’s Water Conservation Month, to educate 

citizens about how they can help save Florida’s precious water resources; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Green Cove Springs has always encouraged and supported water conservation through 

various educational programs and special events; and 

 

WHEREAS, every business, industry, school, and citizen can make a difference when it comes to conserving 

water; and 

 

WHEREAS, every business, industry, school, and citizen can help by saving water and thus promote a healthy 

economy and community; and 

 

WHEREAS, outdoor irrigation comprises a large portion of water use, the City of Green Cove Springs will 

encourage citizens and businesses to focus on improving outdoor irrigation efficiency. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY VIRTUE OF THE AUTHORITY VESTED OF THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The City of Green Cove Springs, Florida hereby proclaims April as “WATER 

CONSERVATION MONTH.” 

 

Section 2. The City of Green Cove Springs, Florida is calling upon each citizen and business to help protect 

our precious resource by practicing water saving measures and becoming more aware of the need 

to save water.  For this, the 26th year of Water Conservation Month, there will be a special focus 

on improving outdoor irrigation efficiency. 

 

Section 3. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City Council 

of the City of Green Cove Springs. 

 

DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN 

REGULAR SESSION THIS 2ND DAY OF APRIL 2024. 

 

       CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

              

       Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

 

              

       Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 67

Item #5.



CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 

PROCLAMATION, LETTER OF HONOR, 

AND KEY TO THE CITY 

APPLICATION FORM 

Return completed form to the City Clerk’s Office 

City of Green Cove Springs, 321 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL  32043 

Requestor’s Name:  

Requestor’s Address: 

Requestor’s Telephone and Email:  

Person/Organization to be Honored: 

Event Title:  

Event Date, Time & Location: 

Type of Honor Requested: 

Proclamation     Letter of Honor   Key to the City 

Provide a detailed reason for the request including a list of accomplishments and how the 

individual/organization benefits the quality of life in the City of Green Cove Springs.  For 

Proclamations, provide a sample Proclamation or text for the “WHEREAS” clauses (attach 

additional sheets, if necessary): 

The Offices of the Mayor and City Clerk reserve the right to use submitted facts as deemed 

appropriate and may request additional information when necessary. 

Rev. George L. Reed, Jr.
 549 N. Palmetto Ave., Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

904-402-0626   
 Mt. Zion African Methodist Episcopal (AME) Church

151st Church Anniversary 
March 24, 2024, 3 p.m.- 4:00 p.m., Mt. Zion African

Methodist Episcopal Church, 549 N. Palmetto Ave., Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church, Green Cove Springs, Clay County,

exists among churches across the United States, the Caribbean, Canada, Asia

and Africa, under the umbrella of the African Methodist Episcopal demoniation in 1816

by the Right Bishop Richard Allen of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

     (See Attachment)

✔

Page 68

Item #6.



Proclamation 
WHEREAS, Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church, Green Cove Springs, Clay County, is 
among over 7000 worldwide churches under the auspices of the African Methodist Episcopal 
denomination, founded by the Right Bishop Richard Allen (Philadelphia, Pennsylvania) in 1816), and 
 
WHEREAS, Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church, is the oldest African American church in 
Clay County, which has continued without interruption since February 1873, and is younger than Edward 
Waters University, the oldest historical Black university in Florida founded in Jacksonville in 1866, and 
 
WHEREAS, individuals of African American and Caucasian descent, male and female, were original 
Trustees, and among them was the late Mr. Henry Bram (Bran), an African American laborer, who served 
as Clay County Commissioner from 1876 to 1877; and Mt. Zion celebrates the late Methodist Minister 
Edward Fells, who served Clay County as an elected Constable, and a City of Green Cove Springs 
Councilman in 1874 to 1876, and was the father of world renown sculptress Augusta Fells Savage, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church’s congregation, assets, and treasured 
historic artifacts are, today, under the care of Rev. George L. Reed, Jr., Pastor, with his wife, Leading 
Lady Tammyla Harris-Reed; and 
 
WHEREAS, its Women’s Missionary Society is named for late member, Sarah Muldrow, entrepreneur, 
and owner of the Muldrow Hotel, which was once the only known African American hotel/rooming house 
in the old principal business district for African Americans on Old Middleburg Road (now Martin Luther 
King Blvd.), and 
 
WHEREAS, Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church, which once served as the interim Dunbar 
High School in the 1940s after the original school on Pine/Walburg and Cypress was condemned, remains 
a testament to hard work as a community trustee and, by the power of God, still stands as a spiritual 
incubator for church and community growth through a growing community development corporation and 
is one year older than the City of Green Cove Springs, Florida. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City of Green Cove Springs hereby recognizes and celebrates the 151st Anniversary 
and historical significance. 

 
Section 2. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City 

Council of the City of Green Cove Springs. 
 

DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 2ND DAY OF APRIL, 2024. 

       CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 
              
       Constance W. Butler, Mayor 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
              
       Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 69

Item #6.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12th,2024 

FROM: Greg Bauer 

SUBJECT: City Council approval for Atlantic Pipe Services (APS) to clean and televise (TV) 2,000 

linear feet (LF) of stormwater pipe in the Cove subdivision in the amount of $29,952.00. 
 

BACKGROUND 

On the 12/19/23 Regular Session, The City Council passed Resolution No. R-26-2023, authorizing the 

City to borrow an amount not to exceed $8,560,000.00 to finance the acquisition and construction of 

certain improvements to the City’s Stormwater utility. APS submitted a state contract, allowing the City 

to “piggyback” off set pricing. 

APS will clean and TV 2,000 LF of stormwater piping in the Cove subdivision, located off Houston 

Street. City staff can then examine the condition of the piping and determine the proper avenue for 

permanent repair. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$29,952.00 - Stormwater CIP.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize approval for Atlantic Pipe Services (APS) to clean and televise (TV) 2,000 linear feet (LF) of 

stormwater pipe in the Cove subdivision in the amount of $29,952.00. 
 

Page 70

Item #7.



Page 71

Item #7.



Page 72

Item #7.



Erin Hans
Digitally signed by Erin Hans
DN: cn=Erin Hans c=US e=ehans@atlanticpipe.us
Reason: I am the author of this document
Location: 
Date: 2024-01-16 14:51-05:00

Page 73

Item #7.



Page 74

Item #7.



Page 75

Item #7.



Page 76

Item #7.



Page 77

Item #7.



Page 78

Item #7.



Page 79

Item #7.



Page 80

Item #7.



Page 81

Item #7.



Page 82

Item #7.



Page 83

Item #7.



Page 84

Item #7.



Page 85

Item #7.



Page 86

Item #7.



Page 87

Item #7.



Page 88

Item #7.



Page 89

Item #7.



Page 90

Item #7.



Page 91

Item #7.



Page 92

Item #7.



Page 93

Item #7.



Page 94

Item #7.



Page 95

Item #7.



Page 96

Item #7.



Page 97

Item #7.



Page 98

Item #7.



Page 99

Item #7.



Page 100

Item #7.



Page 101

Item #7.



Page 102

Item #7.



Page 103

Item #7.



Page 104

Item #7.



Page 105

Item #7.



Page 106

Item #7.



Page 107

Item #7.



Page 108

Item #7.



Page 109

Item #7.



Page 110

Item #7.



Page 111

Item #7.



Page 112

Item #7.



Page 113

Item #7.



Page 114

Item #7.



Page 115

Item #7.



Page 116

Item #7.



Page 117

Item #7.



Page 118

Item #7.



Page 119

Item #7.



Page 120

Item #7.



Page 121

Item #7.



Page 122

Item #7.



Page 123

Item #7.



Page 124

Item #7.



Page 125

Item #7.



Page 126

Item #7.



Page 127

Item #7.



Page 128

Item #7.



Page 129

Item #7.



Page 130

Item #7.



Page 131

Item #7.



Page 132

Item #7.



Page 133

Item #7.



Page 134

Item #7.



Page 135

Item #7.



Page 136

Item #7.



Page 137

Item #7.



Page 138

Item #7.



Page 139

Item #7.



Page 140

Item #7.



Page 141

Item #7.



Page 142

Item #7.



Page 143

Item #7.



Page 144

Item #7.



Page 145

Item #7.



Page 146

Item #7.



Page 147

Item #7.



Page 148

Item #7.



Page 149

Item #7.



Page 150

Item #7.



Page 151

Item #7.



Page 152

Item #7.



Page 153

Item #7.



Page 154

Item #7.



Page 155

Item #7.



Page 156

Item #7.



Page 157

Item #7.



Page 158

Item #7.



Page 159

Item #7.



Page 160

Item #7.



Page 161

Item #7.



Page 162

Item #7.



Page 163

Item #7.



Page 164

Item #7.



Page 165

Item #7.



Page 166

Item #7.



Page 167

Item #7.



Page 168

Item #7.



Page 169

Item #7.



Page 170

Item #7.



Page 171

Item #7.



Page 172

Item #7.



Page 173

Item #7.



Page 174

Item #7.



Page 175

Item #7.



Page 176

Item #7.



Page 177

Item #7.



Page 178

Item #7.



Page 179

Item #7.



Page 180

Item #7.



Page 181

Item #7.



Page 182

Item #7.



Page 183

Item #7.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: City Council authorization to submit a Florida Boating Improvement Program (FBIP) grant 

application to the FWC to fund completion of the City Pier extension and approval of 

Resolution R-06-2024, authorizing the City Manager to sign and submit same. Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

In 2020, the City constructed the first phase of the City Pier extension with funding received in a Legislative 

Line Item (LLI) appropriation.  Unfortunately, that funding was not sufficient to complete the project.  

Recently, the City constructed two additional mooring dolphins to facilitate mooring of large ships, which 

was partially funded by Clay County Tourism. 

There is one more year left on the permitting for the pier extension.  The current CIP includes $500,000 in 

funding proposed in the FY 24-25 budget year.  The budget for the remaining work to extend the City Pier 

is estimated at $1,373,000.  This grant request in this application is for $873,000, to be matched with 

$500,000 in general fund capital revenue. Attached for reference is a draft of the application, which is due 

March 20, 2024. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Potential $873,000 grant with a $500,000 city match.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize staff to submit a Florida Boating Improvement Program (FBIP) grant application to the FWC to 

fund completion of the City Pier extension and approve Resolution R-06-2024, authorizing the City 

Manager to sign and submit same. 
 

Page 184

Item #8.



       

 

 

         

  

   

   

  

  

  

  

  

 

                    

              

       

   

             

                    

  

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Florida Boating Improvement Program 

Grant Application 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

Grant Application Number : Date Received: 

Fill in all sections that apply – Put N/A for all sections that do not apply 

I – APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Applicant Organization Name: DUNS #: 

Federal Employer Id. No.: 
State Senate 

District: 

State House 

District: 
U.S. Congressional 

District 

Signature Authority Name: Signature Authority Title: 

Project Manager Name: Project Manager Title: 

Mailing Address: City: Zip Code: 

Shipping Address: City: Zip Code: 

Telephone: Fax: Email: 

II – PROJECT SUMMARY 

Project Title: 

Type of Application: New (never considered before) Reconsideration Phased Continuation–Phase No.: 

Type of Request: FCO Design/Engineering/Permitting FCO Construction Non-FCO Project 

Project Category:  Boat Access Facilities Recreational Channel Markings/Uniform Waterway Markers 

(Select only one) 

Boater Education Other Boating Related Activities Derelict Vessels 

Project Cost: Total Project Cost: $ FBIP Amount Requested: $ 

Project Summary: 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 1 of 9 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS PIER EXTENSION--PHASE II

This project will complete the construction of the previously designed and permitted Pier extension, wave attenuator construction, and floating dock improvements that began in 2020.

In 2020, the City of Green Cove Springs (GCS) designed, permitted, and began construction on an extension/improvement of their existing Pier. The improvements included replacing damaged or destroyed floating dock fingers, a wave attenuation system, and an extension to the
Pier deck and railing. The construction was partially completed with the aid of a Legislative Line-item Appropriation previously attained in 2020. Between 2020 and 2021, the city of GCS successfully replaced some of the floating dock and built 140 feet of the designed 200-foot wave
attenuator but did not construct the Pier deck and railing extension due to limited funds. This grant will assist with the construction of the remainder of the project which will double the boat access capacity, and greatly improve the protect the facilities from further damage.

Original Pier construction: 1980s
Original Pier extension: 1999
Current Pier extension: began 2020
Finished Pier extension: pending

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 073219297

59-6000328 6 20 4

CONSTANCE BUTLER MAYOR

MIKE NULL ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER

321 WALNUT ST GREEN COVE SPRINGS

321 WALNUT ST GREEN COVE SPRINGS

32043

32043

904-284-8118 mnull@greencovesprings.com

1373000 873000

Page 185

Item #8.



       

   

                  

          

      

      

       

          

         

        

      

        

      

                     

      

                

                

         

         

          

      

       

           

      

    

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

III – PROJECT INFORMATION 

Project Type: Boa t Access New Construction (New Facility) Boat Access New Construction (Existing Facility) 

Boat Access Engineering/Permitting (no construction) Boat Access Renovation/Replacement  

New Channel Markers New Regulatory Markers 

New Information Markers Replace/Repair Channel Markers 

Replace/Repair Regulatory Markers Replace/Repair Information Markers 

Derelict Vessel Kiosks /Signs 

Educational Program Portable Exhibits (trade show exhibit) 

Printed Materials (boater guides, brochures) 

Current Facility Description: Boat Ramp/Public Launching Facility Marina/Tie-up/Overnight Moorage Facility 

Primitive Other: 

Facility Location:  County: Water body: 

Latitude: N deg. min. sec. Longitude: W deg. min. sec. 

Facility Street Address or Location:  

Upland Ownership: Public - Fee Simple Public – Lease 

Number of Years Remaining in Lease: Name of Owner: 

Is this facility open to the general public? Yes No 

Estimate percent (%) use of launching facility: % Motorboats/Sailboats % Non-Motorboats 

Current day use, parking or launch fee amount:  $ Tie-up/Overnight Moorage fee: $ 

How frequently are facilities inspected or maintained? 

Who does the inspections and maintenance? 

To capture boating access opportunities in the area, please provide names of comparable boating facilities (ramps, tie-up 

facilities/marinas) within a 10-mile radius of the proposed facility. 

Name Distance Name Distance 

1. 2. 

3. 4. 

5. 6. 

7. 8. 

9. 10. 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 2 of 9 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

Clay St. Johns River
5929 81 4040.74

90 10

25

Weekly

City Staff

28.848

Governors Creek Marina 1.4 mi Knight's Marina 
Shands Bridge Boat Docking Lakeshore Boat Ramp 

3.7 mi
2.7 mi 9.4 mi

Page 186

Item #8.



       

     
 

            
 

                                                            
 

                                                                          

 

                        
 

                                                             
 

                                                                       

                 
 

                                                          
 

                                                                      

          
 

            
 

                                                                           
 

                                                                            

   

                                                                                           

 

                                                                                      

 

                                                                       

 

                                                          

 

                                 

 

  

     

     

    

       

   

     

   

     

   

     

 

     

       

     

              

       

  

 

   

 

   

IV - FACILITY COMPONENTS AND USE – EXISTING CONDITIONS 

Number of Launch Lanes: 

Type of Ramp: Asphalt Concrete Other 

Condition: Poor Average Good 

Number of Boarding Docks: Length: Ft. 

Type of Dock:  Fixed Wood Fixed Concrete Aluminum Floating 

Condition:  Good Average Poor 

Other 

Moorage or Tie-up Dock: Ft or Slip 

Type of Dock: Fixed Wood Fixed Concrete Aluminum Floating 

Condition: Good Average Poor 

Other 

Number of Boat Trailer Parking Spaces: 

Number of ADA Boat Trailer Parking Spaces: 

Type of Parking:  Asphalt Concrete Grass Other 

Condition: Good Average Poor 

Other Facility Attributes: 

Restroom:  Yes No Pump-out Station: Yes 

Showers:  Yes No Garbage Cans/Dumpster: Yes 

Laundry Facilities: Yes No Hoist Launching System: Yes 

Shelters at Launch Sites: Yes No Wave attenuation /Breakwater: Yes 

Other: 

No 

No 

No 

No 

V - PROJECT ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION 

Who is or will be completing project design/engineering? 

Applicant’s Own Staff 

Consulting Engineers 

N/A (Materials or Equipment Purchase) 

Other: 

Level of engineering completed at time of application: 

None 

Conceptual (Master Plan Phase) 

Preliminary 

Final (Ready to Bid) 

VI - PERMITS Submitted Approved N/A 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 

Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

FWC (Projects involving mooring buoys must be permitted pursuant to Chapter 68D-23, F.A.C.) 

Local and Others (If needed) 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 3 of 9 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

60.00

9

1

0

0

n/a

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

X

X

X

X

Page 187

Item #8.



       

   
 

         

    
 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

           
 

      

  VII – PROJECT SCOPE 

Need Statement: The Applicant must explain why the project is necessary, timely, and how it fulfills a need. Describe why 

existing facilities are insufficient to meet demand. 

Project Purpose: The Applicant must succinctly summarize the ultimate purpose for the proposed project and link the purpose to 

the demonstrated need. Be specific and focus on the benefits to the boater and boating access. 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 4 of 9 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

The City of Green Cove Springs lies on the Western shore of the widest point along the St Johns River approximately 20 miles South of 
Jacksonville. A public pier with floating docks has become a popular destination for anglers, tourists, residents, boaters, and cruise ships for 
decades. Itinerant vessels are always found tied up as their owners enjoy nearby park, pool, restaurants, and other attractions. More recently, 
large vessels including the American Star cruise ships make continual use of this facility. The American Star currently visits this Pier 14 times 
each year, allowing 90 passengers each visit access to the facility. These guests come from all over the country, beginning their cruise in 
Jacksonville* Many other boaters from Clay and neighboring counties use the pier and floating docks regularly throughout the year with many 
boaters being turned away during special events and periods of high demand.  
 
Due to the width of the river and the wave fetch that commonly arises at this location, the floating docks have been damaged, some having to 
be removed. The City set aside funds to replace the missing and damaged floating docks, add a larger floating dock for large vessel access, 
and add a wave attenuator to protect them from further damage. Due to the low design of the existing concrete pier, it became apparent that 
extending the pier and equipping the extension with wave attenuators was the best approach, as the deck itself provides significant protection 
from wave action during the common periods of storm surge.  
 
However, the $600,000.00 budget for the improvements did not cover the full cost of the improvements. To address the immediate issue, the 
project was permitted under the full design, but only a portion of the design was constructed. One floating dock finger was replaced and 
fourteen of the designed sixteen bents (pile and beam assemblies) were constructed to support a wave attenuator. Four large vessel dolphins 
were also installed to support large vessel access, one of which was funded by public support from Clay Tourism.  
 
The pier deck was not constructed, but the bents were designed and constructed so that the deck could be installed with minimal revision 
cost. The wave attenuator provided dramatic relief from much of the experienced turbulence, but the rest of the pier extension, attenuator, 
deck and railing, and large vessel floating dock are still needed to keep up with facility demand and fully protect the expanded floating dock. 
 
* While the County has a population over 100,000, and has fewer than 35,000 registered vessels, Clay County is defined by NOAA as a 
Coastal Shoreline County (see https://coast.noaa.gov/data/digitalcoast/pdf/defining-coastal-counties.pdf) and has "a high level of 
boating-related activities from individuals residing in other counties” per the FBIP Bonus Criteria. The cruise ship and out-of-County boaters 
who regularly use the facility constitute thousands of users throughout the year. Each time the cruise ship berths, approximately 90 guests 
disembark here and tour the Pier, park, and City. As such, a priority consideration could reasonably be established for this project. See 
Attachment J for Cruise Ship schedule.  

The additional floating docks will keep up with the high and increasing demand for boater access
to the pier and City of Green Cove Springs. Extending the pier deck and wave attenuator will 
help protect the existing and additional floating dock from the regular wave action that has 
historically damaged the floating docks. The enhanced cruise ship access will ensure 
uninterrupted access for both the docked cruise ship and other boaters who will finally be able to 
use the facility concurrently. 

Page 188

Item #8.



    

  

 

      
 

    
 

 

 

    

      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

VII – PROJECT SCOPE 

Expected Results or Benefits: The Applicant must describe how the structures, service, or other activities will address the need(s) 
and benefits for boating access.  Describe how the project increases boating access, safety or education.  

Project Goals & Timeline: The Applicant must clearly describe the project goal(s) and proposed timeline to reach the desired 
outcome of the project. 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 5 of 10 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

An additional 250 LF of floating dock will be put into service which will facilitate docking capacity for at least 10 small craft 
vessels, more than doubling the current capacity of nine. The extended pier deck and wave attenuator will dramatically 
improve the protection from wave action during inclement weather, enhancing the safety of docked vessels and the floating 
docks themselves. The improved large vessel access will enhance cruise ship access and safety to the touring public.  
 
The extended fixed pier, wave attenuator, and floating dock increases and protects boat access. Associated amenities are 
available for recreational boat users such as shore-side accommodations for visiting boaters include picnic areas, manatee 
observation area as allowed per the Manatee protection plan in the project design, City accommodations, and significant 
historical and natural destination points. 
 
The fully constructed pier and boat access will facilitate an increased number of cruises per year which will contribute to the 
enrichment of GCS’s economic development making it a highly anticipated destination of Northeast Florida. With the 
ever-increasing demand of use of the pier from both residents and visitors, GCS has resumed contracting with site plan 
designers, collection of necessary permits and is actively seeking the sufficient funding all to complete the pier in its entirety. 
Of the cities bordering the Saint Johns River, GCS is one of the very few which serves both boaters (day use of visitors and 
transient use overnight) and cruise ships. For that reason, the dedicated pier and boat access site is invaluable to the city of 
Green Cove Springs. 
 
Constructing the remainder of the pier will allow the City of Green Cove Springs to qualify for membership to the States 
Organization for Boating Access (SOBA). With this membership, residents will have the opportunity to gain an education on 
the development and maintenance of recreational boating facilities. In addition to the anticipated resources provided by SOBA, 
the City of Green Cove Springs will implement various systems to protect, preserve and maintain the pier and boat accesses. 
For example, pilings and wales may be used to avoid major impact to vessels, installation techniques specifically foundation 
stabilizers can be applied to the potential of shifting foundations and more. 

Goals: 
 
The City of Green Cove Springs will complete the construction of the engineered and permitted 
Pier improvements to increase boater access with additional floating dock facilities and to protect 
the boat slip facilities with additional wave attenuator and pier deck, thus ensuring the continued 
life and use of the facility. 
 
Timeline: 
 
July 2024: Notification of grant selection and Agreement drafting. 
July 2024 – Sept 2024: Bid Documents prepared, Existing Permits renewed/extended. 
Oct 2024: Grant Agreement executed. Begin reporting on the receipt, obligation, and expenditure 
of Grant fund outlays. 
Oct 2024: Project construction Request for Bids advertised. 
Nov 2024: Project awarded, materials ordered, regulatory agencies notified. 
Dec 2024 - Jan 2025: Project construction commences depending on material availability. 
Dec 2024 - May 2025: Project construction continues, inclement weather permitting. 
May 2025: Project construction substantially complete, regulatory agencies initiate inspection. 
June 2025: Project certified complete. Finalize Grant reporting.  
 
 

Page 189

Item #8.



    

 

   
  

  

 
   

                  
                               

 

   

      

      

        

                

 
        

        

  

 

      
 

 

 

   
  

  

  
  

 
    
    
     
         
 
     
     
  

 

    

VII – PROJECT SCOPE 

Approach and Tasks: Using the preferred format outlined in the example below, the Applicant should describe the approach, 
tasks and activities used to meet the project goal(s).  Applicant should describe how each task will be completed, by whom and the 
anticipated completion date.  The goal(s) should be specific, measurable, and those which can be accomplished within the project 
time frame. 

EXAMPLE:
   GOAL: Anywhere County will utilize the approved design, engineering plans and permits to procure contracted services to 

construct and install a new one‐lane boat ramp with a concrete approach. 

Tasks: 
 Prepare construction plans, details, sections, and specifications necessary for bidding: Complete by 01/2020 
 Advertise the construction project documents to interested bidders: Complete by 02/2020 
 Review bids and make recommendation of award to the County: Complete by 04/2020 
 Dredge 400 cubic yards from the end of the boat ramp to the creek: Complete by 05/2020 
 Demolish the existing boat ramp: Complete by 07/2020 

 Install a 15‐feet by 40‐feet concrete boat ramp: Complete by 08/2020 
 Install a 70 square foot concrete approach slab at the head of the boat ramp: Complete by 08/2020 
 Install 5‐feet by 11‐feet aluminum compliant ramp connected to the existing floating dock that is adjacent to the 

boat ramp: Complete by 09/2020 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 6 of 10 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

GOAL: 
The City of Green Cove Springs will complete construction of the previously designed and 
permitted Pier extension, wave attenuator extension, and installation of additional floating docks.  
 
Tasks: 
• Secure funding from FBIP to assist in funding the remainder of the project: Complete by 07/2024. 
• Renew/extend previously issued permits from FDEP, ACOE, and SJRWMD for the existing project 
to be continued: Complete by 9/2024. 
• Revise project plans to limit construction to remaining unfinished portion of previous design: 
Complete by 9/2024. 
• Advertise for construction and inspection bids: Complete by 10/2024. 
• Review bids and recommend award of construction contract/ City to approve: Complete by 
11/2024. 
• Notify regulatory agencies of pending construction commencement: Complete by 11/2024.  
• Contractor construction commences to substantial completion: 
       o Install three Pier pile assemblies (bents) and 60 LF wave attenuator: Complete by 1/2025. 
       o Install floating dock guide piles: Complete by 1/2025. 
       o Install 200 LF Pier deck: Complete by 3/2025. 
       o Install railing, floating docks, and ramp: Complete by 5/2025. 
• Inspectors, City, and Regulatory agencies review substantially complete construction: Complete 
by 5/2025.  
• Final punch list is completed and project is certified complete: Complete by 6/2025.  
• Complete reporting on Grant funding expenditures and provide to FWC: Complete by 7/2025. 

Page 190

Item #8.



       

  

   

 

 
  

 

  

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                       

                       

                      

                      

                       

 

 

        

        

         

  

  

        

           

        

       

        

  

        

           

        

       

        

  VIII – BUDGET 

Budget Category 
FBIP Request Cost Share 

Total 

(FBIP + Cost Share) 

Administration (Project Management) $ $ $ 

Contracted Services $ $ $ 

Permitting & Project Inspection Fees $ $ $ 

Site Preparation $ $ $ 

Demolition and Removal $ $ $ 

Construction $ $ $ 

Equipment (Rental or In-Kind Use) $ $ $ 

Contingency Costs $ $ $ 

Other Costs $ $ $ 

Pre-Award Costs $ $ $ 

TOTAL BUDGET: $ $ $ 

Cost Share Breakout 

Grantee/Applicant Share: Non-cash/in-kind and cash funds $ 

Partnerships (Other sources of funds): Public and private partners $ 

FBIP Grant Request: $ 

Partnership Details 

Funding Source/Agency: 

Type of Funding (Federal grant; State grant; Federal loan; State loan): 

Grant Name: 

Amount Awarded/Applied: $ 

Approval Status (Approved, Pending, Date Intend to Apply): 

Funding Source/Agency: 

Type of Funding (Federal grant; State grant; Federal loan; State loan): 

Grant Name: 

Amount Awarded/Applied: $ 

Approval Status (Approved, Pending, Date Intend to Apply): 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 7 of 9 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

500,000.00

873000

53,000 30,000 83,000
7,000 3,000 10,000
755,000 435,000 1,190,000

48,000 27,000 75,000
10,000 5,000 15,000

873,000 500,000 1,373,000

no other fund sources have been obtained. See City Capital Improvement Plan in Attachment E

Page 191

Item #8.



       

  

    

      

     

     

    
 

 

 

     

 
 

       
 

        
 

          
 

       
 

         
 

       
 

      
 

       
 

       

 
 

    

   

  

     

      
 

      

 

 

     

 
 

      

 

 

   

     

  

  
 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IX – BUDGET NARRATIVE 

Cost Estimate: The Applicant is required to provide a schedule of values in the form of a formal bid, written quote 

from proposed vendor, or an engineer’s cost estimate, or in the alternative, may provide a detailed explanation of how 

the budget was developed. Please attach to this application. 

Budget Narrative:  Responding to the budget narrative questions below, the Applicant is required to provide more 

budget detail on how they estimated the budget in narrative form.  If any of the questions are not applicable, put N/A. 

Budget Category Cost Justification: The Applicant must explain all requested budget items/costs listed in the proposed 

project budget completed in this application. Demonstrate a clear connection between costs and the proposed project 

activities by providing a brief description of activities, including the estimated number of billable units and rate(s), for 

each budget category. 

Administration: 

Contracted Services: 

Permitting & Project Inspection Fees: 

Site Work: 

Demolition & Removal: 

Construction: 

Equipment: 

Contingency Costs: 

Other Costs: 

Pre-Award Costs: Pre-award costs occur prior to the Application being submitted. The Applicant may submit for 

reimbursement of the costs of design and engineering costs (site surveys, working drawings, construction plans, cost 

estimates, technical feasibility studies, etc.) and costs for tests, surveys, and application preparation required for 

permitting as part of the grant Application. In order to be granted pre-award costs, the Applicant must provide an 

explanation as to why it was necessary to incur these costs prior to the grant Application submission. 

Proration (if applicable): The Applicant must prorate costs for facilities that will benefit non-boating users sharing 

landside facilities such as restrooms, etc. 

After Project Completion User Fees (if applicable): Describe the amount and frequency of proposed fees that will be 

charged to boaters for the use of the funded infrastructure after construction is complete and the Agreement ends or has 

been terminated.  Fees charged must be comparable to those charged regionally. The collected fees must be used for 

operation and maintenance of the funded infrastructure for its useable life. 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 8 of 9 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

See Attachment E for details

See Attachment E for details

See Attachment E for details

Not Applicable
See Attachment E for details

See Attachment E for details

The design, permitting, and construction of the previous portion of the pier and dock design was funded 
with the City Legislative Line-item Appropriation. The City will not seek reimbursement for these costs.

n/a

Overnight boat slip rental fee = $25.00/night

Page 192

Item #8.



    

             

         

          

    

 

             

             

            

   

 
             

  

             

        

 
              

        

 
             

         

 
           

 

      

         

         

 

           

         

       

 

 
 

 

  

     

 

 

         

  

   

  

 

       

 

       

    

 

              

   
 

 

               

                    

 

                 

                

             

  

              
               

 

           

         

    

              
               

X – APPLICATION COMPLETION CHECKLIST 

Cover Letter: One (1) application transmittal cover letter (identify priority rank with multiple applications). 

Application: Three (3) applications. One MUST have original signature from authorized individual. 

Electronic Copy on CD: One (1) application with attachments on a CD. 

- - Required Attachments - -

Authorization: An adopted resolution or other authorization, by the Governing Body, authorizing the individual signing 

the Application the authority to apply for the grant and authorizing the project manager to administer the grant on behalf 

of the Applicant. If the Applicant is applying on behalf of another public entity, then an MOU between the Applicant and 

the public entity must also be submitted. 

Site Control Documentation: Site control documentation for the upland portion of project site (e.g. deed, lease, results of 

title search, etc.) 

Boundary Map: Map indicating boundary of the project area being dedicated for public use. 

Existing Condition Photographs: Sufficient photos to depict the physical characteristics of the project area. 

Detailed Cost Estimate: Cost estimate in the form of a formal bid, written quote from proposed vendor or an engineer’s 
cost estimate, or in the alternative, a detailed explanation of how the budget was developed. 

Navigational Chart: If available, submit an 8.5” x 11” photocopy of a current NOAA North American Datum 83 nautical 
chart (provide the NOAA chart name and number) indicating the precise location of the project site. 

Permits: Photocopies of all necessary project permit(s). If exempt, provide notification of exemption from permitting 

agency. 

- - - Optional Attachments - - -

Site Plan: Attach preliminary site plan or conceptual plan (if completed). 

Support Letters: Attach letters of known public support. 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE 

Application is hereby made for the activities described herein.  I certify that I am familiar with the information contained 

in the application, and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this information is true, complete, and accurate.  I further 

certify that the Applicant possesses the authority, including the necessary requisite property interests, to undertake the 

proposed activities. 

I also certify that the Applicant’s governing body has authorized the Project Manager as the official representative of the 

Applicant to act in connection with this Application and subsequent project as well as to provide additional information as 

may be required.  By signature below, I represent that the Applicant agrees to comply with all applicable federal, state, 

and local laws in conjunction with this proposal and resulting project, if approved. 

Print/Type Name Individual Signing Application Title 

Signature Date 

WARNING: “Whoever knowingly makes a false statement in writing with the intent to mislead a public servant in the performance of his or her 

official duty shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083.” § 837.06, Florida Statutes. 

NOTE: Instruction and further information regarding this application and the Florida Boating Improvement Program can be found in the Florida 

Boating Improvement Program Guidelines or by contacting the Program Administrator at: Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, 

Florida Boating Improvement Program, 620 South Meridian Street, Tallahassee, FL 32399-1600; or call (850) 488-5600; or email 

fbip@MyFWC.com. 

FWC/FBIP (07/19) Page 9 of 9 68-1.003, F.A.C. 

Page 193

Item #8.

mailto:fbip@MyFWC.com


Table of Contents 
 

I. Application__________________________________________________________pages 1-9 

II. Attachments USE TABBED DIVIDERS 

 Attachment A: Statement of Authorization SIGNED ________________pages __-__ 

 Attachment B: Site Control Documentation 

• Property Card_______________________________________________pages __-__  

• State Submerged Land Lease (SSLL)__________________________ pages __-__ 

 Attachment C: Boundary Map____________________________________pages __-__ 

 Attachment D: Existing Condition Photos_________________________pages __-__ 

 Attachment E:  Detailed Cost Estimate 

• Detailed Cost Estimate  

• Capital Improvement Plan (CIP)______________________________pages __-__ 
  

 Attachment F: Navigational Chart________________________________pages __-__ 

 Attachment G: Permits and Tolling Agreement_____________________pages __-__ 

 Attachment H: Site Plans 

• Proposed Improvements_____________________________________pages __-__ 

• Complete Permitted Plan Set_________________________________pages __-__  

 Attachment I: Support Letters___________________________________ pages __-__ 

 Attachment J: Additional Information 

• Cruise Ship Schedule 2024___________________________________pages__-__  

 

Page 194

Item #8.



RESOLUTION NO. R-06-2024 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SUBMIT 

AND MANAGE AN APPLICATION FOR THE FLORIDA BOATING 

IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (FBIP). 

 

WHEREAS, the State of Florida has established the Florida Boating Improvement 

Program (FBIP) to provide grants to local governments for boating access; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Green Cove Springs City Council is eligible to receive a grant 

award under this program; and 

 

WHERESA, the City of Green Cove Springs City Council wishes to improve boating 

access at the City Pier. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. The City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs hereby authorizes 

the City Manager to submit and manage the application and grant for the Florida 

Boating Improvement Program (FBIP) to be used for constructing improvements to 

boating access at the City Pier. 

 

DONE AND RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 12TH 

DAY OF MARCH, 2024. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Constance W. Butler, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 195

Item #8.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director  

SUBJECT: City Council approval of funding in the amount of $99,200.00 to RCM Utilities for a total 

rehabilitation of Lift Station # 326, Winn Dixie, “piggybacking” on the City of Clermont 

Contract # 2023-072. 
 

BACKGROUND 

Water Department staff have an ongoing capital expenditure to rehabilitate the concrete, piping and 

other appurtenances of aging lift stations.  Budgeted funds are appropriated for Fiscal Year 2024.  RCM 

Utilities has a contract with the city of Clermont upon which staff will “piggyback”.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

$99,200.00 from the wastewater department capital improvement program (CIP) budget. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve funding in the amount of $99,200.00 to RCM Utilities for a total rehabilitation of Lift Station # 

326, Winn Dixie, “piggybacking” on the City of Clermont Contract # 2023-072. 

Page 196

Item #9.



 
From: Scott Purvis <spurvis@rcmutilities.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 10:35:58 AM 
To: Jason Furman <jfurman@greencovesprings.com> 
Cc: Chris Creech <chris@rcmutilities.com>; Clayton Ruff <cruff@rcmutilities.com>; Melissa Moss 
<melissa@rcmutilities.com> 
Subject: Green Cove Springs Lift Stations 315, 316, & 326  

  

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. .  Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content 
is safe. 

Jason, I have put together some wet well piping material options for you and your staff to 
review for the lift station rehabs. 
  
I have also attached some information on the HDPE pipe and fittings. 

  
The DI Pipe option includes epoxy painted after installation, P401 epoxy lined ductile iron pipe 
with stainless steel hardware, from the base ells to outside the wet well. 
The HDPE Pipe option includes HDPE fusion welded pipe and fittings with stainless steel 
hardware and stainless-steel pipe supports, from the base ells to outside the wet well.  
The SCH 40 SS Pipe option includes Type 316, SCH 40 Stainless Steel welded pipe and fittings 
with stainless steel hardware and stainless-steel pipe supports, from the base ells to outside the 
wet well. 
The SCH 10 SS Pipe option includes Type 316, SCH 10 Stainless Steel welded pipe and fittings 
with stainless steel hardware and stainless-steel pipe supports, from the base ells to outside the 
wet well. 
  
All the wet well pipe options include the requested above ground pipe and valves replacement 
with epoxy painted ductile iron pipe and fitting with stainless steel hardware. 
  
Scope of Work for Lift Station 326 

  
Owner to provide full bypass pump, hose, and fitting system. 
Demo existing temporary 3’’ PVC Valves & Discharge Piping  
Coat Wet Well & Terminal Manhole with SewperCoat, Calcium/Aluminate Mortar 

Install new ½” stainless steel base plates with SS hardware. 
Install new 4” Flygt Base ells. 
Install 4 new SCH 40, Type 316, 2’’ Guide Rails with new top rail bracket. 
Install new 4’’ Risers from the base ell to the first 90 out of the wet well where the green 
discharge piping starts.   
Install a new 4’’ , slurry down pipe for emergency vacuuming. 
Demo pipe and fittings in the existing valve vault and fill with flowable concrete. 

Page 197

Item #9.

mailto:spurvis@rcmutilities.com
mailto:jfurman@greencovesprings.com
mailto:chris@rcmutilities.com
mailto:cruff@rcmutilities.com
mailto:melissa@rcmutilities.com


Install new 4” P401 lined, ductile iron pipe and fittings for an above ground valve system Lift 
Station Standard plan sheet. 
Install 2-new Stainless-Steel Diaphragm and pressure gauges on the above ground piping. 
Install new 4” P401 lined, ductile iron pipe, fittings and brass cam-loc fittings for a wet well 
vacuum slurry system. 
Install underground new 4” P401 lined, ductile iron pipe, fittings, and valves for an emergency 
pump off connection with brass cam-loc fittings. 
Install a new 4” isolation valve between the emergency pump off connection and the above 
ground valve system to allow servicing of the above ground check and plug valves. 
Install new stainless steel Float hanger . 
  

DI Price $113,580.00 

HDPE Price $100,770.00 

SCH 40 SS Price $99,200.00 

SCH 10 SS Price $97,900.00 

  

Please take a moment and review these options, I’ll be glad to prepare formal proposals to 

send to you. 
  

Please feel free to call, text, or email me anytime. 

  

  
Thanks, 

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
H. Scott Purvis 

Special Project Estimator 

RCM Utilities, LLC 

1451 Pine Grove Rd. 
Eustis, FL 32726 

352.561.2990 / office 

352.267.0150 / mobile 

spurvis@rcmutilities.com 

https://link.edgepilot.com/s/ddac4b4f/LJLwGoSxyUCjgwPsvzfMDQ?u=http://www.rcmutilities.com/ 

 

Page 198

Item #9.

mailto:spurvis@rcmutilities.com
https://link.edgepilot.com/s/ddac4b4f/LJLwGoSxyUCjgwPsvzfMDQ?u=http://www.rcmutilities.com/
https://link.edgepilot.com/s/fe574c84/rSDCqkUKTkqH8Ko85tUMjA?u=http://rcmutilities.com/


1 
 

AGREEMENT No. 2023-072 

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE, VAULT, AND LIFT STATION REHABILITATION 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this August 22, 2023, by and between the CITY 
OF CLERMONT, FLORIDA, a municipal corporation under the laws of the State of Florida whose 
address is: 685 W. Montrose Street, Clermont, Florida, (hereinafter referred to as "CITY"), and 
RCM UTILITIES, LLC, whose address is: 100 W Mills Ave, Eustis, FL 32726, (hereinafter 
referred to as "CONTRACTOR"). 

WHEREAS, the City of Clermont issued RFB 23-085 titled Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and 
Lift Station Rehabilitation; 

WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR submitted its response dated July 6, 2023, to RFB 23-085; 

WHEREAS, CITY desired to award a contract to CONTRACTOR in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of RFB 23-085 and CONTRACTOR's response thereto; 

WITNESSETH: That the parties hereto, for the consideration hereinafter set forth, mutually agree 
as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF WORK 

The CONTRACTOR shall furnish provide sewer manhole, vault, and lift station rehabilitation as 
described in CITY’s RFB 23-085 and CONTRACTOR’s July 6, 2023 response thereto, which are 
expressly incorporated herein and made a part of the Agreement Documents hereto and shall do 
everything required by this Agreement and the Agreement Documents. Provided, however, that 
nothing herein shall require CITY to purchase or acquire any items or services from 
CONTRACTOR. 

2. THE CONTRACT SUM 

CITY shall pay CONTRACTOR, for the faithful performance of the Agreement as set forth in the 
Agreement Documents and the Unit Price Schedule an amount in accordance with the 
compensation schedule set forth in Exhibit "A", attached hereto and incorporated herein. 

3. PROVISION OF SERVICES AND COMPLETION OF WORK 

A. The CONTRACTOR shall only provide the CITY with sewer manhole, vault, and lift 
station rehabilitation upon receipt of an authorized order from CITY and shall provide the 
requested items in the timeframe and as set forth in RFB 23-085 or in the specific 
purchase order submitted by CITY. Nothing herein shall obligate CITY to purchase any 
specific amount of product from CONTRACTOR or create an exclusive purchase 
agreement between CITY and CONTRACTOR. CITY shall not be obligated or required 
to pay for any items received until such time as CITY has accepted the items in 
accordance with the order provided to CONTRACTOR. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 199

Item #9.



Term Agreement 
RFB 23-085 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

2 
 

B. CONTRACTOR, upon receipt of a purchase order hereunder, shall immediately notify 
CITY if it has an issue or question related to the fulfillment of the order or whether there 
will be any delay in providing the items requested. Failure of CONTRACTOR to so 
notify CITY will preclude CONTRACTOR from seeking payment of any kind for any 
items that were delayed in delivery. Upon receipt of notification of the delay, CITY may 
at its sole option cancel the order and seek the items from any available source. 

C. It is expressly understood and agreed that the passing, approval, and/or acceptance of any 
services herein by CITY or by any agent or representative as in compliance with the 
terms of this Contract shall not operate as a waiver by the CITY of strict compliance with 
the terms of this Contract and the CITY may require the CONTRACTOR replace the 
accepted services so as to comply with the warranties and specifications hereof. 

D. COMPANY specifically acknowledges that this Contract does not bind or obligate CITY 
to purchase any minimum quantity of product during the term hereof. 

4. TERM AND TERMINATION 

A. This Agreement is to become effective upon execution by both parties and shall remain in 
effect for a period of three (3) years thereafter unless terminated or renewed as provided 
for herein. 

B. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, CITY may, upon written notice 
to CONTRACTOR, terminate this Agreement: a) without cause and for CITY’s 
convenience upon thirty (30) days written notice to CONTRACTOR; b) if 
CONTRACTOR is adjudged to be bankrupt; c) if CONTRACTOR makes a general 
assignment for the benefit of its creditors; d) CONTRACTOR fails to comply with any of 
the conditions of provisions of this Agreement; or e) CONTRACTOR is experiencing a 
labor dispute, which threatens to have a substantial, adverse impact upon the performance 
of this Agreement, without prejudice to any other right or remedy CITY may have under 
this Agreement. In the event of such termination, CITY shall be liable only for the 
payment of all unpaid charges, determined in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement, for work, properly performed and accepted prior to the effective date of 
termination. 

C. Upon mutual Agreement of the parties, this Agreement may be renewed for three (3) 
additional one-year terms. Sixty (60) days prior to completion of each extended term of 
this Agreement, CONTRACTOR may request and the City may consider an adjustment 
to price based on changes in the Producer Price Index (PPI). 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 200

Item #9.



Term Agreement 
RFB 23-085 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

3 
 

5. PAYMENTS 

In accordance with the provisions fully set forth in the Contract Documents, CONTRACTOR shall 
submit an invoice to CITY upon completion of the services and delivery of products to CITY as 
set forth in the applicable purchase order. CITY shall make payment to the CONTRACTOR for 
all accepted deliveries and undisputed products delivered and services provided, within thirty (30) 
calendar days of receipt of the invoice. 

6. DISPUTE RESOLUTION - MEDIATION 

A. Any claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or related to this Agreement 
shall be subject to mediation as a condition precedent to voluntary arbitration or the 
institution of legal or equitable proceedings by either party. 

B. The CITY and CONTRACTOR shall endeavor to resolve claims, disputes and other 
matters in question between them by mediation. 

C. The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall 
be held in Clermont, Lake County, Florida, unless another location is mutually agreed 
upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall be enforceable as settlement Agreements in 
any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

7. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION RIDER 

7.1. Worker's Compensation Insurance 
The CONTRACTOR shall take out and maintain during the life of this Agreement, Worker's 
Compensation Insurance for all its employees connected with the work of this Project and, in case 
any work is sublet, the CONTRACTOR shall require the subCONTRACTOR similarly to provide 
Worker's Compensation Insurance for all of the subCONTRACTOR employees unless such 
employees are covered by the protection afforded by the CONTRACTOR. Such insurance shall 
comply with the Florida Worker's Compensation Law. In case any class of employees engaged in 
hazardous work under this Agreement at the site of the Project is not protected under the Worker's 
Compensation statute, the CONTRACTOR shall provide adequate insurance, satisfactory to the 
CITY, for the protection of employees not otherwise protected. 

7.2. CONTRACTOR’s Commercial General Liability Insurance 
The CONTRACTOR shall take out and maintain during the life of this Agreement, Commercial 
General Liability and Business Automobile Liability Insurance as shall protect it from claims for 
damage for personal injury, including accidental death, as well as claims for property damages 
which may arise from operating under this Agreement whether such operations are by itself or by 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by it, and the amount of such insurance shall be as follows: 

A. CONTRACTOR’s Commercial General Liability,  $1,000,000 Each, 
($1,000,000 aggregate). Liability Coverages, Bodily Injury Occurrence, & Property 
Damage Combined Single Limit 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 201

Item #9.



Term Agreement 
RFB 23-085 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

4 
 

B. Automobile Liability Coverages, $1,000,000 Each, Bodily Injury & Property Damage 
Occurrence, Combined Single Limit 

The insurance clause for both BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE shall be amended 
to provide coverage on an occurrence basis. 

7.3. CITY's and CONTRACTOR’s Protective Liability Insurance 
The CITY shall procure and furnish a CITY's and CONTRACTOR’s Protective Liability 
Insurance Policy with the following minimum limits: 

A. Bodily Injury Liability & $1,000,000 Each ($2,000,000 aggregate) Property Damage 
Liability Occurrence Combined Single Limit. 

7.4. Indemnification Rider 
A. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold 

harmless the CITY and its employees from and against all claims, damages, losses and 
expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorney's fees, arising out of or 
resulting from its performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, damage, loss 
or expense (1) is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or 
destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself) , and (2) is caused in whole 
or in part by any negligent act or omission of the CONTRACTOR, any subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of 
them may be liable, regardless of whether or not such acts are caused in part by a party 
indemnified hereunder. Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or 
otherwise reduce any other right to obligation of indemnity which would otherwise exist 
as to any party or person described in this Article; however, this indemnification does not 
include the sole acts of negligence, damage or losses caused by the CITY and its other 
contractors. 

B. In any and all claims against the CITY or any of its agents or employees by any 
employee of the CONTRACTOR, any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the 
indemnification obligations under this Paragraph shall not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for 
the CONTRACTOR or any subcontractor under workers' or workmen's compensation 
acts, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts. 

C. The CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges receipt of ten dollars and other good and 
valuable consideration from the CITY for the indemnification provided herein. 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 202

Item #9.



Term Agreement 
RFB 23-085 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

5 
 

8. NOTICES 

All notices shall be in writing and sent by United States mail, certified or registered, with return 
receipt requested and postage prepaid, or by nationally recognized overnight courier service to the 
address of the party set forth below. Any such notice shall be deemed given when received by the 
party to whom it is intended. 

A. CONTRACTOR: 

RCM Utilities, LLC 

Attn: Melissa Moss, Controller 

100 W. Mills Ave., Eustis, FL 32726 

A. OWNER:  

City of Clermont 

Attn: Brian Bulthuis, City Manager 

685 W. Montrose Street, Clermont, FL 34711 

 

9. MISCELLANEOUS 

9.1. Attorneys’ Fees 
In the event a suit or action is instituted to enforce or interpret any provision of this Agreement, 
the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover such sum as the Court may adjudge reasonable as 
attorneys’ fees at trial or on any appeal, in addition to all other sums provided by law. 

9.2. Waiver 
The waiver by city of breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be construed or operate 
as a waiver of any subsequent breach of such provision or of such provision itself and shall in no 
way affect the enforcement of any other provisions of this Agreement. 

9.3. Severability 
If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is to 
any extent invalid or unenforceable, such provision, or part thereof, shall be deleted or modified 
in such a manner as to make the Agreement valid and enforceable under applicable law, the 
remainder of this Agreement and the application of such a provision to other persons or 
circumstances shall be unaffected, and this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest 
extent permitted by applicable law. 

9.4. Amendment 
Except for as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement may not be modified or amended except 
by an Agreement in writing signed by both parties. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 203

Item #9.



Term Agreement 
RFB 23-085 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

6 
 

9.5. Entire Agreement 
This Agreement including the documents incorporated by reference contains the entire 
understanding of the parties hereto and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous Agreements 
between the parties with respect to the performance of services by CONTRACTOR. 

9.6. Assignment 
Except in the event of a merger, consolidation, or other change of control pursuant to the sale of 
all or substantially all of either party’s assets, this Agreement is personal to the parties hereto and 
may not be assigned by CONTRACTOR, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of 
city. 

9.7. Venue 
The parties agree that the sole and exclusive venue for any cause of action arising out of this 
Agreement shall be Lake County, Florida. 

9.8. Applicable Law 
This Agreement and any amendments hereto are executed and delivered in the State of Florida and 
shall be governed, interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Florida. 

9.9. Public Records 
The CONTRACTOR expressly understands records associated with this project are public records 
and agrees to comply with Florida’s Public Records law, to include, to: 

A. Keep and maintain public records that ordinarily and necessarily would be required by 
the CITY in order to perform the services contemplated herein. 

B. Provide the public with access to public records on the same terms and conditions that the 
CITY would provide the records and at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in 
this Florida’s Public Records law or as otherwise provided by law. 

C. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public 
records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law. 

D. Meet all requirements for retaining public records and transfer, at no cost, to the CITY all 
public records in possession of CONTRACTOR upon the termination of the contract and 
destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from 
public records disclosure requirements. CONTRACTOR shall use reasonable efforts to 
provide all records stored electronically to the CITY in a format that is compatible with 
the information technology systems of the CITY. 

E. IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF 
CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO 
PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, THE 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 204

Item #9.



Term Agreement 
RFB 23-085 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

7 
 

CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT THE CITY’S CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC 
RECORDS AT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE, (352) 241-7331. 

10. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

The Contract Documents, as listed below are herein made fully a part of this Contract as if herein 
repeated. 

Document Precedence: 

A. This Agreement 

B. Purchase Order / Notice To Proceed 

C. An applicable Contractor Quote or Statement of Work 

D. All documents contained in RFB 23-085 titled Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift 
Station Rehabilitation and CONTRACTOR's response thereto. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on this 23rd day of 
August, 2023. 

 

CITY OF CLERMONT 

 

__________________________________________ 

Tim Murry, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________________ 

Tracy Ackroyd Howe, City Clerk 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 205

Item #9.



8 
 

RCM UTILITIES, LLC 

 
 
By:         

Print Name:        

Title:          

Date:         

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Controller

8/24/2023

Melissa Moss

Page 206

Item #9.



Line Item Description Quantity UOM Unit Cost Total
1 Cementitious lining of Brick Manhole – 48 in. Diameter 50 VF 175.00$         8,750.00$           
2 Cementitious lining of Pre‐cast Manhole – 48 in. Diameter 250 VF 150.00$         37,500.00$         
3 Cementitious lining of Brick Manhole – 60 in. Diameter 40 VF 195.00$         7,800.00$           
4 Cementitious lining of Pre‐cast Manhole – 60 in. Diameter 25 VF 185.00$         4,625.00$           
5 Adjust Existing Manhole Casting within Asphalt Pavement 1 EA 2,050.00$      2,050.00$           
6 Adjust Existing Manhole Casting within Green Area 10 EA 500.00$         5,000.00$           
7 Furnish New Ring and Cover USF 170 (SANITARY) 1 EA 295.00$         295.00$              
8 Re‐Construct Manhole Bench and Flow Channel 2 EA 1,000.00$      2,000.00$           

Total 68,020.00$         

Line Item Description Quantity UOM Unit Cost Total
9 Lift Station Surface Rehabilitation by Cementitious Lining. 100 SF 28.00$           2,800.00$           

10.a Bypass 8 in. Sewer Setup 9 EA 1,200.00$      10,800.00$         
10.b Bypass 10 in. to 12 in. Sewer Setup 4 EA 1,000.00$      4,000.00$           
10.c Bypass 15 in. to 18 in. Sewer Setup 4 EA 750.00$         3,000.00$           
10.d Sewer Bypass 4 in. Pump 25 Per Day 800.00$         20,000.00$         
10.e Sewer Bypass 6 in. Pump 10 Per Day 1,000.00$      10,000.00$         
10.f Sewer Bypass 8 in. Pump 10 Per Day 1,100.00$      11,000.00$         
11.a Furnish and Install Pump Base – 4 in. (inclusive of pump brackets) 10 EA 3,900.00$      39,000.00$         
11.b Furnish and Install Pump Base – 6 in. (inclusive of pump brackets) 4 EA 4,600.00$      18,400.00$         
11.c Furnish and Install Pump Base – 8 in. (inclusive of pump brackets) 4 EA 10,300.00$   41,200.00$         
12.a Re‐Construct Lift Station Fillet – 6 ft. Diameter 5 EA 500.00$         2,500.00$           
12.b Re‐Construct Lift Station Fillet – 8 ft. Diameter 2 EA 800.00$         1,600.00$           
12.c Re‐Construct Lift Station Fillet – 10 ft. Diameter 2 EA 1,200.00$      2,400.00$           
12.d Re‐Construct Lift Station Fillet – 12 ft. Diameter 2 EA 1,500.00$      3,000.00$           
13 Removal of Existing Coating 200 SF 10.00$           2,000.00$           

14.a

Remove and Replace Existing Piping and Valves within Existing 
Submersible Lift Station through Existing Valve Vault – 4 in. (price 
per each riser) 10 EA 13,500.00$   135,000.00$      

GROUP 1 PRICING (MANHOLE AND/OR VAULT REHABILITATION

RCM Utilities, LLC
GROUP 2 PRICING (LIFSTATION REHABILITATION)

RCM Utilities, LLC

Exhibit A
DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 207

Item #9.



14.b.

Remove and Replace Existing Piping and Valves within Existing 
Submersible Lift Station through Existing Valve Vault – 6 in. (price 
per each riser) 4 EA 16,200.00$   64,800.00$         

14.c

Remove and Replace Existing Piping and Valves within Existing 
Submersible Lift Station through Existing Valve Vault – 8 in. (price 
per each riser) 4 EA 21,500.00$   86,000.00$         

14.d

Remove and Replace Existing Piping and Valves within Existing 
Submersible Lift Station through Existing Valve Vault – 10 in. (price 
per each riser) 4 EA 28,500.00$   114,000.00$      

14.e

Remove and Replace Existing Piping and Valves within Existing 
Submersible Lift Station through Existing Valve Vault – 12 in. (price 
per each riser) 4 EA 35,000.00$   140,000.00$      

15.a
Furnish and Install 6 ft. top slab with 36in. x 48in. hatch with Safety 
Grate (Coal Tar Epoxy Coating) 5 EA 6,000.00$      30,000.00$         

15.b
Furnish and Install 8 ft. top slab with 36in. x 48in. hatch with Safety 
Grate (Coal Tar Epoxy Coating) 2 EA 6,500.00$      13,000.00$         

16.a
Furnish and install 5 ft. x 5 ft. valve box with 48in. x 48in. Hatch 
(Coal Tar Epoxy Coating) 5 EA 11,200.00$   56,000.00$         

16.b
Furnish and install 6 ft. x 6 ft. valve box with 48in. x 48in. Hatch 
(Coal Tar Epoxy Coating) 2 EA 12,400.00$   24,800.00$         

17.a Temporary Bypass Riser – 4 in. 5 EA 9,800.00$      49,000.00$         
17.b Temporary Bypass Riser – 6 in. 2 EA 11,700.00$   23,400.00$         
17.c Temporary Bypass Riser – 8 in. 2 EA 15,600.00$   31,200.00$         

18.a
2 in. SS Dual Guide rails with brackets – 10 ft. to 15 ft. (Price Per 
Pump) 10 EA 1,900.00$      19,000.00$         

18.b
2 in. SS Dual Guide rails with brackets – 15 ft. to 20 ft. (Price Per 
Pump) 5 EA 2,200.00$      11,000.00$         

19.a
3 in. SS Dual Guide rails with brackets – 10 ft. to 15 ft. (Price Per 
Pump) 5 EA 2,200.00$      11,000.00$         

19.b
3 in. SS Dual Guide rails with brackets – 15 ft. to 20 ft. (Price Per 
Pump) 5 EA 2,700.00$      13,500.00$         

20 Furnish and Install 3 in. Drain 5 EA 800.00$         4,000.00$           
21 Furnish and Install SCH‐80 PVC Vent – 4 in. 5 EA 500.00$         2,500.00$           

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 208

Item #9.



22.a Drain and Clean Wet Well – 6 ft. 5 EA 1,000.00$      5,000.00$           
22.b Drain and Clean Wet Well – 8 ft. 2 EA 1,200.00$      2,400.00$           
22.c Drain and Clean Wet Well – 10 ft. 3 EA 1,400.00$      4,200.00$           
22.d Drain and Clean Wet Well – 12 ft. 3 EA 1,600.00$      4,800.00$           

23.a.i
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 4 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) PVC Force Main 5 EA 10,200.00$   51,000.00$         

23.a.ii
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 4 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) Ductile Force Main 5 EA 10,200.00$   51,000.00$         

23.b.i
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 6 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) PVC Force Main 2 EA 10,500.00$   21,000.00$         

23.b.ii
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 6 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) Ductile Force Main 2 EA 10,500.00$   21,000.00$         

23.c.i
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 8 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) PVC Force Main 2 EA 11,200.00$   22,400.00$         

23.c.ii
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 8 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) Ductile Force Main 2 EA 11,200.00$   22,400.00$         

23.d.i
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 10 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) PVC Force Main 2 EA 15,500.00$   31,000.00$         

23.d.ii
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 10 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) Ductile Force Main 2 EA 15,500.00$   31,000.00$         

23.e.i
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 12 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) PVC Force Main 2 EA 16,000.00$   32,000.00$         

23.e.ii
Connect Lift Station Piping to Existing Force Main – 12 in. (Include 
Line Stop and Plug Valve) Ductile Force Main 2 EA 16,000.00$   32,000.00$         

24.a

Removal, Furnish and Installation of HDPE Riser Pipe, Bracket, Base 
Ell and Base Plate in Place of Ductile Iron Riser and Fitting on Line 
Item 14.a – 4 in.  (This price will be either added if more or 
subtracted if less from original base bid price) 2 EA 7,500.00$      15,000.00$         

24.b

Removal, Furnish and Installation of HDPE Riser Pipe, Bracket, Base 
Ell, and Base Plate in Place of Ductile Iron Riser and Fitting on Line 
Item 14.b – 6 in.  (This price will be either added if more or 
subtracted if less from original base bid price) 3 EA 8,300.00$      24,900.00$         

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 209

Item #9.



24.c

Removal, Furnish and Installation of HDPE Riser Pipe, Bracket, Base 
Ell, and Base Plate in Place of Ductile Iron Riser and Fitting on Line 
Item 14.c – 8 in.  (This price will be either added if more or 
subtracted if less from original base bid price) 3 EA 15,500.00$   46,500.00$         

24.d

Removal, Furnish and Installation of HDPE Riser Pipe, Bracket, Base 
Ell, and Base Plate in Place of Ductile Iron Riser and Fitting on Line 
Item 14.d – 10 in.  (This price will be either added if more or 
subtracted if less from original base bid price) 3 EA 16,500.00$   49,500.00$         

24.e

Removal, Furnish and Installation of HDPE Riser Pipe, Bracket, Base 
Ell, and Base Plate in Place of Ductile Iron Riser and Fitting on Line 
Item 14.e – 12 in.  (This price will be either added if more or 
subtracted if less from original base bid price) 3 EA 18,500.00$   55,500.00$         

25.a
Removal, Furnish, & Installation of Existing Potable water Piping 
and PRV Valve within Existing and through Existing Valve Vault – 6  1 EA 19,000.00$   19,000.00$         

25.b
Removal, Furnish, & Installation of Existing Potable water Piping 
and PRV Valve within Existing and through Existing Valve Vault – 8  1 EA 19,500.00$   19,500.00$         

25.c
Removal, Furnish, & Installation of Existing Potable water Piping 
and PRV Valve within Existing and through Existing Valve Vault – 10  1 EA 24,500.00$   24,500.00$         

25.d
Removal, Furnish, & Installation of Existing Potable water Piping 
and PRV Valve within Existing and through Existing Valve Vault – 12  1 EA 20,500.00$   20,500.00$         

26.a 2‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 7,200.00$      7,200.00$           
26.b 4‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 7,800.00$      7,800.00$           
26.c 6‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 8,300.00$      8,300.00$           
26.d 8‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 8,800.00$      8,800.00$           
26.e 10‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 11,900.00$   11,900.00$         
26.f 12‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 12,400.00$   12,400.00$         
26.g 14‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 20,000.00$   20,000.00$         
26.h 16‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 20,000.00$   20,000.00$         
26.i 20‐in. Line Stop Stainless Steel 1 EA 25,500.00$   25,500.00$         

Total 1,727,900.00$   

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 210

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

13 

 

3. SCOPE OF WORK 
3.1. Part 1: General 

A. Summary: 

1. These specifications shall govern all labor, material, equipment, and appliances 
necessary for sanitary sewer manhole and lift station rehabilitation for the purpose of 
eliminating infiltration and inflow, providing corrosion protection, repair of cracks and 
voids, and restoration of the structural integrity of the manhole/ lift stations as a result 
of the application of a monolithic fiber-reinforced structural/structurally enhanced 
pure calcium aluminate cementitious liner to the wall, ceiling, and bench surfaces of 
concrete, brick or any other masonry construction material. Including lift station 
piping rehabilitation as detailed in the specifications. 

B. Submittals: 

1. Submit the manufacturer’s material data and application and installation instructions 
for all products used for approval prior to use. 

2. Provide documentation that the proposed manhole/lift station rehabilitation process 
has a minimum three (3) year history/experience for the reconstruction of sanitary 
sewer manholes and lift stations on projects of similar size and scope (SEE PART 4, 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS). 

C. Quality Assurance 

1. Use, mix, apply, and cure all products in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
recommendations and instructions. 

2. Install all products in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and 
instructions. 

3.2. Part 2: Products 
A. Materials 

1. Patching Mix: 

a. A quick-setting, fiber-reinforced, calcium aluminate-based cementitious material 
for patching and filling voids and cracks. 

2. Infiltration Control Mix: 

a. A rapid-setting cementitious product specifically formulated for infiltration control. 

3. Grouting Mix: 

a. A rapid-setting cementitious grout specifically formulated to stop active infiltration 
and fill voids. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 211

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

14 

 

b. A rapid-setting chemical grout specifically formulated for stopping very active 
infiltration. 

4. Liner Mix: 

a. A fiber-reinforced pure-fused calcium aluminate cement and calcium aluminate 
aggregate to be wet mixed and low pressured spray applied to form the 
structural/structurally enhanced monolithic cementitious liner covering all interior 
manhole surfaces. Liner material to be SewperCoat, Strong Seal, Parson CA 
Liner + Cement Plus, Maximum CA + Cement or approved equivalent material by 
the City prior to installation. 

b. Materials must be pre-mixed and specially formulated to withstand H2S 
(hydrogen sulfide) bacterial corrosion and abrasion in sewer networks. 

c. The products mentioned above must be accompanied by a certified letter 
from the manufacturer and a letter from the contractor for a 10-year 
warranty. 

5. Bonding Compound: 

a. Material must be modified cementitious bonding compound that protects exposed 
reinforcement steel and enhances the bond of overlay to the substrate. 

6. Water: 

a. The water must be clean and potable and will be provided by the City at 
designated fill stations. 

3.3. Part 3: Execution 
A. Preparation 

1. Place covers over sewer inverts to prevent extraneous material from entering the 
sewer lines. 

2. Remove foreign, loose, and unsound concrete and masonry material not able to be 
removed by high-pressure water spray may require the use of masons or mechanical 
tools for removal. 

3. Clean the interior surfaces of the manhole/lift station with high-pressure (3,500 psi 
minimum) water spray, using detergent, muriatic acid, antibacterial agent, or other 
chemicals to remove grease, oil, and other contaminants that would prevent a good 
bond between the existing manhole interior surface and the liner material. 

4. Active hydrostatic leaks (infiltration) shall be stopped using the rapid-setting specially 
formulated infiltration control mix. 

5. Very active hydrostatic leaks (infiltration) shall be stopped using one of the rapid-
setting grouting mixes specially formulated for control of very active infiltration. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 212

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

15 

 

6. Clean and prepare exposed reinforcement steel, and apply and cure bonding 
compound, in accordance with the product manufacturer’s instructions and 
recommendations. 

7. Prepare cracks and voids to be patched and filled, and apply and cure patching mix, 
in accordance with the product manufacturer’s instructions and recommendations. 

8. Areas of the manhole/lift station that are found to be structurally damaged and in 
need of repair beyond the scope of this specification must be brought to the attention 
of the City's Project Manager. A suitable repair method must be developed for each 
area and submitted to the City's Project Manager for review prior to commencing the 
repair. 

9. Prepare, clean, and repair manhole/lift station benches and inverts in the same 
manner as prescribed above. 

B. Liner Application, Curing, and Testing 

1. Prepare manhole/lift station surfaces, wet batch-mix liner materials low-pressure 
spray, apply liner mix to the manhole ceiling, wall, and bench surfaces, and allow the 
liner to cure in accordance with the product manufacturer’s instructions and 
recommendations. 

2. Liner application must be 1/2-inch for manholes and 1-inch for wet wells minimum 
thickness. The application must be completed with a minimum of two coats. The first 
coat must be applied at a thickness adequate to cover the substrate and be trowled 
to compact the material into voids and set the bond. The second coat must be 
applied to ensure complete coverage at the specified thickness. 

3. Inverts must be lined with the patching mix, and trowel applied in one coat to a 1-inch 
minimum thickness. 

4. Prepare, label, and submit recommended daily or per lot test specimens for testing. 

C. Cleaning 

1. Clean manhole/lift station interiors and remove all construction-related materials, 
equipment, and appliances from the manhole/lift station prior to reinstatement to 
service. 

D. Lift Station Rehabilitation 

1. By-pass pumps must be sound attenuated and meet the minimum flow requirements 
for each station. The system must have a second pump tied in and ready in case the 
primary pump fails. The system must be monitored 24 hours a day by a remote dialer 
and contractor personnel. The successful respondent is responsible for emergency 
calls day and night while it is on by-pass pumps. The bypass system must be tested 
to ensure proper operation. The City must witness the testing and sign off prior to 
starting rehabilitation. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 213

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

16 

 

2. Temporary pump-out riser will need to be installed first and may be left as the 
emergency pump out. The City will help determine the best location for both parties. 
The riser must consist of a flanged P-401 spool coming up above grade, flanged P-
401 90, MJ P-401 Tee, two MJ gate valves with valve boxes, and all necessary 
restraint devices. A flanged aluminum male cam-lock and dust cap with a 6-inch 
flanged ¼ turn plug valve should be installed on the elbow after the job is completed. 

3. The successful respondent is responsible for the removal of pumps, pipes, and 
valves. The City will disconnect the pump leads, remove the floats, and transducer. 
The pumps are to be given to the City after removal. All other materials are to be 
hauled and disposed of by the successful respondent. 

4. Installation of base elbows must be as per manufacturers’ specifications. The bases 
must be Flygt dual rail design. Existing pumps will need the top bolt-on guide rail 
bracket. Guide rails must be 3-inch stainless steel with a stainless guide rail bracket. 
Any modification to the existing floor or fillet for proper installation must be included 
in the pricing. 

5. Ductile Iron pipe and fittings shall be P-401 lined.  All flanged connections shall have 
316 stainless steel nuts & bolts. The use of an anti-seizing compound is required on 
all bolts. 

6. Valves inside the valve box must be Mueller, American, Clow, Dezurik, or Pratt. 
Check valves must be flanged L/W type with rubber disc seal. Plug valves must be 
flanged ¼ turn direct nut with 80% opening. 

7. Pressure gauges must be installed on each discharge pipe downstream of the plug 
valve.  The 1/2-inch tap can be directly into the ductile iron pipe. Stainless steel 
nipples and ball valves shall be used to make the connection. Gauges shall be 4-1/2 
inch SS liquid filled with diaphragm. 

8. Vent cap must be all SCH-80 PVC fittings. Use 4-inch elbows and Vanstone flanges 
with a SS screen between them. 

9. Use a 12-foot average riser length for line item 14.a, 14.b, 14.c and alternate price 
for line item 1.a, 1.b, 1.c, in the Price Schedule of this RFB. 

E. Alternate Bid 

1. HDPE SDR-11 IPS pipe riser must be factory butt fused. The riser must have a 
flange adapter with SS backup ring, 90 elbow, and enough pipe to go through the 
wall to the restrained coupling between the wet well and valve box. The height may 
be adjusted with one fusion coupling. The use of a SS stiffener is required at the MJ 
connection. 

2. A 316 stainless steel base plate must be used. Plates shall be at least 12” x 12” x 
½”-thick (base plate to be used with HDPE only). 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 214

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

17 

 

3. Pipe bracing is required every 8-feet minimum. The first must be within 6-inches of 
the top elbow. The bracing must be 316 stainless steel, going from wall to wall 
behind the risers with a stainless steel U-bolt holding the riser to the brace. All nuts 
shall be vinyl locking stainless steel. 

3.4. Part 4: Minimum Qualifications and Requirements 
A. The installer MUST have been engaged in the installation of Manhole and Lift Station 

System Rehabilitation Contracting Services for a minimum of 3 years and have 
rehabilitated a minimum of 500 sanitary sewer manholes and 15 lift stations, in the State 
of Florida, utilizing a system that offers pure fused Calcium Aluminate. 

B. The installer MUST include in their response a list of 10 references, for which manhole, 
lift station, or wet well rehabilitation contracting services have been provided within the 
last 3 years. The reference list must include the name of the company, contact person, 
telephone number, project duration, contract value, and the number of manholes/lift 
stations for each reference. 

C. The successful respondent will be responsible for knowledge of and compliance with all 
relatively local, state, and federal codes and regulations. 

D. For all work performed, the successful respondent must provide a competent job-site 
supervisor and any necessary assistants, all approved by the City's Project Manager. 
The job-site supervisor must be present at all times while work is in progress. The job-
site supervisor will represent the successful respondent at all times while all directions 
given will be binding as per the contract documents. The job-site supervisor must have a 
minimum of 5 years of experience in the rehabilitation of Sanitary Sewer Manholes, Lift 
Stations, and Wet Wells utilizing a product that consists of a pure fused Calcium 
Aluminate Cementitious Liner. 

E. Failure to provide the minimum qualifications and requirements described in this 
section with the bid response result in the bid being declared non-responsive. 

3.5. Part 5: Measurement and Payment 
A. Payments to the successful respondent will be made on the basis of the unit price in the 

Price Schedule as full and complete payment for furnishing all materials, labor, tools, 
and equipment, and for performing all operations necessary to complete the 
rehabilitation work of sewer manholes, lift stations, and wet wells by various trenchless 
methods as authorized by the City.  The City will establish an annual renewable contract 
for these services with the successful bidders as described in this solicitation. 

B. The unit price from the Price Schedule must include all costs and expenses for taxes, 
labor, equipment, materials, commissions, transportation charges & expenses, patent 
fees & royalties, labor for handling materials during the inspection, together with any and 
all other costs and expenses for performing and completing the work as shown on the 
details and specified herein. The Basis of Payment for an item at the price shown in the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 215

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

18 

 

Price Schedule will be in accordance with its description of the item and as related to the 
work specified. Unit prices will be applied to the actual quantities furnished and installed. 

1. The successful respondent's attention is called to the fact that the quotations for the 
various items of work are intended to establish a total price for completing the work 
in its entirety.  Should the successful respondent feel that the cost for any item of 
work has not been established in the Price Schedule, the cost for that work will be 
included in some other applicable item, so that the price for the item reflects the total 
price for completing the work in its entirety. 

C. No separate payment will be made for the following work if required and its cost must be 
included in appropriate payment items: 

a. Applications and pulling of all utility and construction permits; 

b. Dewatering and disposal of surplus water; 

c. Structural repairs; 

d. Cleanup; 

e. Testing materials and apparatus; 

f. Maintenance of utility service; 

g. Appurtenant work; 

h. Inspection Photo Records; 

i. Maintenance of Traffic 

D. The following section will clarify the work included for the items listed in the Price 
Schedule. 

Measurement 

A. Payment will be determined by actual measurement of the completed items, in place, 
ready for service, and accepted by the City's Project Manager unless otherwise 
specified. The City's Project Manager must witness all field measurements. 

B. When depths are indicated in the line item, they must be measured vertically from the 
existing grade, paved or unpaved, to the pipe invert. 

C. It is intended that all work required for completion must be included in the various line 
items as described in the following paragraphs. 

1. CEMENTITIOUS LINING MANHOLE, BRICK, OR PRECAST REHABILITATION 
(1/2” thick minimum in manholes) 

a. This item of work will be measured and paid for at the unit price per vertical foot 
of 48-inch or 60-inch diameter of the manhole wall named in the Pricing Section. 
Measurement must be made from the bench, at its highest point, to the upper 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 216

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

19 

 

limit of the actually treated wall, cone, or chimney. Payment of the unit price per 
vertical foot will provide complete compensation for cleaning of the wall by both 
pressurized water and sand or soda blasting; relief of hydrostatic pressure 
outside the manhole, if necessary; injecting chemical grout to stop active leaks 
into the manhole, if necessary; furnishing and supplying of all materials or 
combination of materials making up the patching and coating (waterproofing) and 
applying or installing them; manufacturer’s representative’s presence or 
assistance, if required; isolation of the manhole by plugging entering lines; 
testing; safety equipment; and all incidentals necessary to obtain a watertight, 
sealed manhole wall and bench, compete in place. 

b. The successful respondent will be responsible for the new coating that is applied 
only and not the existing coating. 

c. Payment for bypass pumping, if required (other than because of damage caused 
by Contractor); will be paid for under a separate item. 

2. CEMENTITIOUS LINING OF LIFT STATION/WET WELL SURFACES (1” thick 
minimum in wet wells) 

a. This item of work will be measured and paid at the unit price per square foot of 
wall in a lift station or wet well. Measurement will be made on the actual surface 
area repaired. Payment of the unit price per square foot will provide 
compensation for cleaning of the wall by both pressurized water and sand or 
soda media blasting methods; relief of hydrostatic pressure outside the structure 
if necessary; injecting chemical grout to stop active infiltration, if necessary; 
cleaning; surface preparation as specified herein; furnishing and supplying of all 
materials or combination of materials, including liner manufacture’s 
representative’s presence or assistance, if required; isolation of the lift station or 
wet well by plugging entering lines; testing; safety equipment for personnel; 
labor, tools and equipment;  and all incidentals necessary to obtain a watertight, 
sealed wall and bench, compete in place. 

b. The successful respondent will be responsible for the new coating that is applied 
only and not the existing coating. 

3. BYPASS PUMPING OF SEWERS 

a. BYPASS PUMP AND PIPING SETUP 

i. These pay items provide complete compensation for bypass pumping 
operations required for sewer manhole, lift station, and wet well rehabilitation. 
The successful respondent must attempt to perform the rehabilitation sewer 
work without bypass pumping. However, if in the opinion of the City, bypass 
pumping is necessary, it will be identified as a payment item. The pay item is 
a one-time charge for all bypass pumping setup operations during a given 
lining installation, including services, regardless of the number of pumps 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 217

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

20 

 

required. Bypass pumping must be bid on the basis of the sewer size which is 
bypassed. 

ii. These items must include, but are not limited to all necessary and required 
traffic control; pumps; piping; gasoline/diesel fuel; maintenance; 
transportation and storage; temporary bypass and service piping; labor; 
materials and/or any other costs associated with bypass pumping. 

iii. Plugging or blocking a sewer line must be included in the appropriate bid item 
for which the flow must be stopped, this is considered incidental work and no 
additional payment shall be considered. 

b. BYPASS PUMP 

i. These items will be paid for on a per-day basis for the operation of the 
bypass pumps. Bypass pump operation will be on the basis of the size of the 
pump used. These items must include fuel operating costs. 

4. ADJUSTING EXISTING MANHOLE CASTINGS 

a. These pay items provide complete compensation for furnishing all necessary 
labor, equipment, and materials to adjust existing manholes to match existing 
elevations. 

5. FURNISH NEW MANHOLE RING AND COVER 

a. This pay item provides complete compensation for furnishing new manhole rings 
and covers as specified by the City. 

6. RECONSTRUCT A COMPLETE BENCH AND FLOW CHANNEL 

a. This pay item provides complete compensation for furnishing all necessary labor, 
equipment, and materials required to re-construct a complete bench and flow 
channel, as required per the City’s minimum standards. 

7. INSTALLATION OF CHIMNEY SEALS 

a. These pay items provide complete compensation for furnishing all necessary 
labor, equipment, and material required to install manhole chimney seals. 

8. REMOVAL OF EXISTING COATINGS 

a. These pay items provide complete compensation for furnishing all necessary 
labor, equipment, and materials necessary to remove any existing coatings that 
may exist in full or any portion of an existing structure. 

9. REMOVE AND REPLACE EXISTING PIPING AND VALVES 

a. These pay items provide complete compensation for furnishing all necessary 
labor, equipment, and materials necessary to remove and replace all existing 
piping, check valves, plug valves, and all miscellaneous materials required for 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 218

Item #9.



Request For Bid #RFB 23-085 
Title: Sanitary Sewer Manhole, Vault, and Lift Station Rehabilitation 

21 

 

this installation. This work will start at existing pump bases and will terminate 
prior to where discharge piping exits the existing valve vault. All work must 
comply with the City of Clermont minimum standards. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 219

Item #9.



 

City of Clermont 
Procurement Services Department 
685 W. Montrose Street 
Clermont, FL 34711 

VENDOR INFORMATION 
 

The following information along with a current W-9 form must be provided to the Procurement Services 
Department for all new vendors and when current vendors remit information changes. 

Name of Individual or Business:             

Contact Person and Title:              

Vendor Street Address:              

Vendor City, State, ZIP:              

                

Vendor Mailing Address (if different from above):          

Vendor Email Address:              

Vendor Email Address for Purchase Order (if different from above): 

                

Phone Number:       Fax Number:       

Taxpayer Identification Number (include a copy of your W9 form):        

Remit to Information (if different from above): 

Payment Remit to Name:              

Payment Remit to Address:             

Payment Remit to City, State, ZIP:            

 

Please return the completed Vendor Information along with the required W-9 form by email to: 
procurementservices@clermontfl.org  

For any questions, please call the Procurement Services Department at (352) 241-7350. 

RCM Utilities, LLC

Melissa Moss   Controller

100 W. Mills Ave 

Eustis, FL 32726

melissa@rcmutilities.com

melissa@rcmutilities.com

352-561-2990 352-292-0139

82-4160762

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E37F303-3CCF-4E7C-BB73-ED125E896E4F

Page 220

Item #9.

mailto:procurementservices@clermontfl.org


 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Assistant Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of, and authorization for the mayor to execute, a contract between 

Sundew Mitigation Bank, LLC and the City for purchase of mitigation credits (property) 

for release of conservation property from the St. Johns River Water Management District, 

to replace a sewer force main, or convert from force main to gravity sewer, for Lift Station 

# 318 / Shinnecock, in Magnolia Point.  The cost of the 0.69 credits (approximately 0.21 

acres) is $34,500.00.   
 

BACKGROUND 

On 8/21/2018 Council ratified the submittal by staff for an HMGP grant application for installation of a 

generator and other improvements at Lift Station #6. The total estimated cost of the project was 

$107,400.00.  The City has received a grant amount of $80,550.00, or 75% of the project cost.  This 

project must be complete by December 31, 2021. 

On 2/4/2020 Council approved of and authorized the mayor to execute the actual contract. 

On 11/17/2020 Council approved the purchase of the generator, for which the city had received a cash 

advance for 75% of the purchase price. 

During the planning stages staff discovered that there was an opportunity to possibly convert the lift 

station to a gravity sewer system, eliminating the station and the mechanical / electrical components 

entirely.   

On March 15, 2022, Council approved Contract Modification #1 to extend the contract expiration date 

for staff to further analyze the conversion to gravity or complete the project as originally approved. 

After further evaluation. staff attempted to convert the HMGP project from lift station improvements 

and purchase of a generator to conversion of the system from force main to gravity.  Due to the length of 

the permitting process to excavate in an established conservation zone where the force main is located, 

HMGP did not agree to the change and staff decided to complete the project as originally planned while 

continuing to prepare for possible elimination of the station. 

During continued evaluation staff discovered that the utility easement through the conservation zone 

was never recorded.  Staff completed a survey, and an analysis of environmental impact to the 

conservation zone, which was the determinant as to the amount of land that had to be mitigated to 

perform any work in the utility easement.   

On 7/25/2022 Council approved, and the mayor executed, a mitigation contract with TGC Sundew / 

Nochaway, LLC.  After almost two additional years of painful negotiations with SJRWMD staff are 

close to completing the transaction.  However, a check request was issued in July of 2022 but somehow 

Page 221

Item #10.



the payment was never received by Sundew.  This is causing the re-negotiation and reissuing of the 

mitigation contract. 

Upon approval and purchase of this mitigation contract, all the criteria for staff to request a release of 

the easement through the conservation zone from SJRWMD will be complete.  This release is required 

for repair of the existing force main or conversion of the force main to gravity sewer. 

The City Attorney has reviewed the referenced contract. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$34,500.00 from the Wastewater Department Capital Improvement Program (CIP) budget.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve of, and authorize the mayor to execute, a contract between Sundew Mitigation Bank, LLC and 

the City for purchase of mitigation credits (property) for release of conservation property from the St. 

Johns River Water Management District, to replace a sewer force main, or convert from force main to 

gravity sewer, for Lift Station # 318 / Shinnecock, in Magnolia Point.  The cost of the 0.69 credits 

(approximately 0.21 acres) is $34,500.00.   
 

Page 222

Item #10.



SUNDEW MITIGATION BANK  
CREDIT RESERVATION AND PURCHASE OPTION AGREEMENT  
 
 
 

Sundew Mitigation Bank, LLC, the Owner of the Sundew Mitigation Bank (hereinafter 
"Seller") does hereby reserve and set aside for future assignment for the sole benefit of   
City of Green Cove Springs                    (hereinafter “Buyer”) mitigation credits the Ratio 
equivalent of   0.69   Ratio Credits off Seller's St. Johns River Water Management District 
ledger and   NA    off Seller's U.S. Army Corps of Engineers ledger (collectively, the 
"Credits") from its Sundew Mitigation Bank.  
 
 
Buyer's Representations: The Buyer represents and warrants to Seller that these Credits 
are to be used to offset wetland impacts pertaining to permit number    8905-19-1  issued 
by the St Johns River Water Management District and permit number       NA      by the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for a development known as  Magnolia	Point	Conservation	
Easement	Release	8905-19-1    (the "Project"). It is the sole responsibility of the Buyer 
to assure that the Credits hereby purchased are sufficient to offset the specific proposed 
wetland impacts for the Project.  
 
 
Purchase of Option: The total purchase price for the Credits is $  34,500          ("Credit 
Price"), which is based on a price of $   50,000          per credit. This Option grants the 
Buyer the right to acquire the Credits at the Credit Price only if the Buyer exercises the 
Option by providing written notice to Seller on or before six months from the date of this 
Option Agreement and Buyer makes full payment of the Credit Price within ten days of 
such notice. Upon exercise of the Option the Buyer must certify that the Buyer's 
representations, warranties, and covenants contained herein remain true and accurate.  
 
 
The Final Exercise Date: Notwithstanding any position in the Option Agreement to the 
contrary, the full amount of the Credit Price shall be due and payable within 10 days 
following  
 
the earlier of (the "Final Exercise Date"):  
 
 (i)  The date the Project has received both its state and federal permits authorizing the 

use of any or all of the Credits to offset wetland impacts of the Project;; or  
 
 (ii)  Six months from the date of this Option Agreement or:  
 
 (iii)  The point in time at which the SJRWMD removes the credits from the 
ledger of the Sundew Mitigation Bank to the Project,  
 

In the event Buyer shall fail to make full payment of the Credit Price and close within 10 
days following the Final Exercise Date, Buyer can no longer exercise this Option and Seller may 

Page 223

Item #10.



retain all payments received by Seller.  
 
Remedies: If the purchase of the Credits is not consummated on account of Buyer's 
failure to make timely payment or Buyer's default hereunder, Seller shall be entitled, as 
its sole and exclusive remedy hereunder, to retain all payments received as full and 
complete liquidated damages for such default of Buyer, the parties hereto acknowledging 
that it is impossible to estimate more precisely the damages which might be suffered by 
Seller upon Buyer's default. The right to retain such sums as full liquidated damages is 
Seller's sole and exclusive remedy in the event of default hereunder by Buyer, and Seller 
hereby waives and releases any right to (and hereby covenants that it shall not) sue 
Buyer: (i) for specific performance of this Agreement, or (ii) to recover the balance of the 
Credit Price. In the event Seller defaults Buyer shall have the right to seek a return of the 
Option Payment Amount. 
 
 
Assignment: This Agreement is not assignable by the Buyer. Seller in Seller's sole and absolute 
discretion, may consent to an assignment to an affiliate of the Buyer. For purposes of this 
paragraph, an affiliated entity of Buyer shall include any entity that is controlled by Buyer or under 
common control with Buyer, whether by reason of ownership interests, management or contractual 
relationship, with the intention that such common control shall continue indefinitely. Upon such 
assignment, Buyer shall remain fully liable hereunder to Seller to assure the affiliated entity 
performs all of its obligations hereunder. In the event of the sale of the property by the Buyer, the 
credits will be transferred to the purchaser.  
 
 
Repurchase Option: Upon payment in full for the Credits by Buyer and the assignment of the 
same to Buyer and/or the Project, the same shall become the property of the Buyer and, to the 
extent not utilized by the Buyer for the Project, the Buyer shall be free to sell, assign or transfer 
any excess Credits not needed by Buyer, to any person or entity as it may determine; provided, 
however, Buyer shall first provide the Seller written notice giving Seller a ten (10) day period from 
the date of delivery of the notice to purchase such Credits. Seller shall notify Buyer in writing 
within said ten (10) day period whether or not it elects to purchase the Credits. If Seller elects to 
purchase all or some of the Credits, the closing of the sale of the Credits from Buyer to Seller shall 
occur within ten (10) days from the date Seller notifies Buyer of its intention to purchase the 
Credits. The purchase price for the Credits shall be $ 50,000  per credit. If Seller does not elect to 
purchase said Credits, then this Repurchase Option shall terminate, and Buyer shall be free to 
dispose of said excess Credits in any manner it may determine. Seller agrees to cooperate with 
Buyer, without cost or expense to Seller, upon Buyer's reasonable request, including, without 
limitation, execution' of documents as are reasonably necessary, to allow Buyer to sell, assign or 
transfer such excess credits. This covenant to re-offer the Credits to the Seller shall continue 
indefinitely.  
 
 
Corrections: If requested by Seller, the Buyer agrees to cooperate fully and in a timely manner to 
assist Seller in correcting errors and/or omissions which may exist in this Agreement, the 
reservation letter, allocation letter or other related documents, when correction is deemed by the 
Seller to be desirable or necessary.  

Page 224

Item #10.



 
All payments shall be made to: TGC Sundew/Nochaway, LLC, and delivered to: 480 S US 
17 San Mateo, FL 32187. Upon receipt of the folly executed credit reservation and 
purchase agreement, Seller will send a Notice of Credit Reservation to the Buyer. Upon 
receipt of the full payment of Credit Price Amount, Seller will send a Notice of Credit 
Allocation to the Buyer. Notice for any party may be at the address set forth herein.  
 
 
FOR BUYER:      FOR SELLER: 
 
                                                                      Sundew Mitigation Bank, LLC 
 
 
By:_______________________________  By:__________________________ 
        Ernest Hale 
    Name___________________________    As Its Manager 
 
    Title____________________________ 
 
Address:___________________________  Date:                                                 , 
                           (The “Date of this Option Agreement)  
             ____________________________ 
 
             ____________________________ 
 
 
Phone:_____________________________ 
  (Required) 
        
 
	

3/4/24

Page 225

Item #10.



Page 226

Item #10.



Page 227

Item #10.



Page 228

Item #10.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director  

SUBJECT: City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to 

execute, the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund, Design Loan Agreement DW 100440, 

in the amount of $2,195,000.00, for the design and permitting of the Magnolia Point 

Reclaimed Water System and Reynolds Water Treatment Plant Improvements.  
 

BACKGROUND 

On 2/21/2023, council approved staff to submit a Request for Inclusion (RFI) to the Florida Department 

of Environmental Protection (FDEP), Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) for consideration 

of a loan for the design and permitting of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water System in the amount of 

$1,900,000.00.  On 6/6/2023, Council approved an amended SWRFI to include the design and 

permitting of improvements to the Reynolds Water Treatment Plant to the loan application.  The FDEP-

DWSRF program has awarded DW 100440 in the amount of $2, 195,000.00 for both projects.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

$2,195,000.00 from the wastewater department capital improvement program (CIP) budget. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve of, and authorize the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to execute, the Drinking Water State 

Revolving Fund, Design Loan Agreement DW 100440, in the amount of $2,195,000.00, for the design 

and permitting of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water System and Reynolds Water Treatment Plant 

Improvements. 

Page 229

Item #11.



 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

AND 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 

DESIGN LOAN AGREEMENT 

DW100440 

 
 

Florida Department of Environmental Protection 
State Revolving Fund Program 

Marjory Stoneman Douglas Building 
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard, MS 3505 

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3000 
 

Page 230

Item #11.



 
DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND DESIGN LOAN AGREEMENT 

 
 

CONTENTS PAGE 
 

 i

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS 1 
1.01. WORDS AND TERMS. 1 
1.02. CORRELATIVE WORDS. 3 

ARTICLE II - WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 3 
2.01. WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS. 3 
2.02. LEGAL AUTHORIZATION. 5 
2.03. AUDIT AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS. 5 

ARTICLE III - LOAN REPAYMENT ACCOUNT 7 
3.01. LOAN DEBT SERVICE ACCOUNT. 7 
3.02. INVESTMENT OF LOAN DEBT SERVICE ACCOUNT MONEYS. 8 
3.03. LOAN DEBT SERVICE ACCOUNT WITHDRAWALS. 8 
3.04. ASSETS HELD IN TRUST. 8 

ARTICLE IV - PROJECT INFORMATION 8 
4.01. PROJECT CHANGES. 8 
4.02. CLOSE-OUT. 8 
4.03. DISBURSEMENTS. 8 

ARTICLE V - RATES AND USE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM 9 
5.01. RATE COVERAGE. 9 
5.02. NO FREE SERVICE. 9 
5.03. RESERVED. 9 
5.04. NO COMPETING SERVICE. 9 
5.05. MAINTENANCE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM. 10 
5.06. ADDITIONS AND MODIFICATIONS. 10 
5.07. COLLECTION OF REVENUES. 10 

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 10 
6.01. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. 10 
6.02. REMEDIES. 11 
6.03. DELAY AND WAIVER. 12 

ARTICLE VII - THE PLEDGED REVENUES 12 
7.01. SUPERIORITY OF THE PLEDGE TO THE DEPARTMENT. 12 
7.02. ADDITIONAL DEBT OBLIGATIONS. 13 

ARTICLE VIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS 13 
8.01. DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS. 13 
8.02. PROJECT RECORDS AND STATEMENTS. 13 
8.03. ACCESS TO PROJECT SITE. 13 
8.04. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER AGREEMENT. 13 

Page 231

Item #11.



 
DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND DESIGN LOAN AGREEMENT 

 
 

CONTENTS PAGE 
 

 ii

8.05. AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT. 14 
8.06. ABANDONMENT, TERMINATION OR VOLUNTARY CANCELLATION. 14 
8.07. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE. 14 
8.08. RESERVED. 14 
8.09. PUBLIC RECORDS ACCESS. 14 
8.10. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. 15 
8.11. SUSPENSION. 16 
8.12. CIVIL RIGHTS. 16 

ARTICLE IX – RESERVED 17 

ARTICLE X - DETAILS OF FINANCING 17 
10.01. PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF LOAN. 17 
10.02. LOAN SERVICE FEE. 17 
10.03. INTEREST RATE. 17 
10.04. LOAN TERM. 17 
10.05. REPAYMENT SCHEDULE. 17 
10.06. PROJECT COSTS. 18 
10.07. SCHEDULE. 18 
10.08. SPECIAL CONDITIONS. 19 

 

Page 232

Item #11.



 

 1 

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 

DESIGN LOAN AGREEMENT 

DW100440 

THIS AGREEMENT is executed by the STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Department) and the CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, (Project Sponsor) existing as a local governmental entity under the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Collectively, the Department and the Project Sponsor shall be referred to as “Parties” 
or individually as “Party”. 

RECITALS 

Pursuant to Section 403.8532, Florida Statutes and Chapter 62-552, Florida Administrative Code, 
the Department is authorized to make loans to finance the planning, design and construction of 
public water systems; and  

The Project Sponsor applied for the financing of Design Activities, and the Department has 
determined that all requirements for a Loan have been met. 

AGREEMENT 

In consideration of the Department loaning money to the Project Sponsor, in the principal amount 
and pursuant to the covenants set forth below, it is agreed as follows: 

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS 

1.01. WORDS AND TERMS. 

Words and terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth below: 

(1) “Agreement” or “Loan Agreement” shall mean this agreement. 

(2) “Authorized Representative” shall mean the official of the Project Sponsor authorized 
by ordinance or resolution to sign documents associated with the Loan. 

(3) “Capitalized Interest” shall mean the interest accruing on Loan proceeds from the 
time of disbursement until six months before the first Semiannual Loan Payment is due.  
Capitalized Interest is financed as part of the Loan principal.   

(4) “Depository” shall mean a bank or trust company, having a combined capital and 
unimpaired surplus of not less than $50 million, authorized to transact commercial banking or 
savings and loan business in the State of Florida and insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. 

(5) “Design Activities” shall mean the design of work defined in the approved planning 
document that will result in plans and specifications, ready for permitting and bidding, for an 
eligible construction project.   

Page 233

Item #11.



 

 2 

(6) “Final Amendment” shall mean the final agreement executed between the parties that 
establishes the final terms for the Loan such as the final Loan amount, the interest rate, Loan 
Service Fee, amortization schedule and Semiannual Loan Payment amount.  

(7) “Final Unilateral Amendment” shall mean the Loan Agreement unilaterally finalized 
by the Department after Loan Agreement and Project abandonment under Section 8.06 that 
establishes the final amortization schedule for the Loan. 

(8) “Gross Revenues” shall mean all income or earnings received by the Project Sponsor 
from the ownership or operation of its Utility System, including investment income, all as 
calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Gross Revenues shall not 
include proceeds from the sale or other disposition of any part of the Utility System, 
condemnation awards or proceeds of insurance, except use and occupancy or business 
interruption insurance, received with respect to the Utility System. 

(9) “Loan” shall mean the amount of money to be loaned pursuant to this Agreement and 
subsequent amendments. 

(10) “Loan Application” shall mean the completed form which provides all information 
required to support obtaining loan financial assistance from the Department. 

(11) “Loan Debt Service Account” shall mean an account, or a separately identified 
component of a pooled cash or liquid account, with a Depository established by the Project 
Sponsor for the purpose of accumulating Monthly Loan Deposits and making Semiannual Loan 
Payments.  

(12) “Loan Service Fee” shall mean an origination fee which shall be paid to the 
Department by the Project Sponsor. 

(13) “Local Governmental Entity” means a county, municipality, or special district. 

(14) “Monthly Loan Deposit” shall mean the monthly deposit to be made by the Project 
Sponsor to the Loan Debt Service Account. 

(15) “Operation and Maintenance Expense” shall mean the costs of operating and 
maintaining the Utility System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, 
exclusive of interest on any debt payable from Gross Revenues, depreciation, and any other items 
not requiring the expenditure of cash. 

(16) “Parity Debt” shall mean any debt obligations issued that are on an equal commercial 
lien position with this Loan. 

(17) “Pledged Revenues” shall mean the specific revenues pledged as security for 
repayment of the Loan and shall be the Gross Revenues derived yearly from the operation of the 
Utility System after payment of the Operation and Maintenance Expense and the satisfaction of 
all yearly payment obligations on account of the Senior Revenue Debt and any senior or parity 
obligations issued pursuant to Section 7.02 of this Agreement.  

Page 234

Item #11.



 

 3 

(18) “Project” shall mean the Design Activities for surface water discharge elimination. 

(19) “Semiannual Loan Payment” shall mean the payment due from the Project Sponsor to 
the Department at six-month intervals. 

(20) “Senior Revenue Debt” shall mean the following debt obligations:  

(a) City of Green Cove Springs, Florida, Water System Revenue Note, Series 2019, 
issued in the amount of $1,500,000, pursuant to Resolution No. R-08-2019, supplementing 
Ordinance No. O-07-2019; and 

(b) Any refunding bonds issued to refund the obligations identified above provided such 
bonds shall not increase annual debt service during the repayment period of this Loan. 

(21) “Utility System” shall mean all devices and facilities of the Water System owned by 
the Project Sponsor. 

(22) “Water System” shall mean all facilities owned by the Project Sponsor for supplying 
and distributing water for residential, commercial, industrial, and governmental use. 

1.02. CORRELATIVE WORDS. 

Words of the masculine gender shall be understood to include correlative words of the 
feminine and neuter genders.  Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, the singular shall 
include the plural and the word “person” shall include corporations and associations, including 
public entities, as well as natural persons.  

ARTICLE II - WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

2.01. WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS. 

The Project Sponsor warrants, represents and covenants that: 

(1) The Project Sponsor has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to 
comply with the provisions hereof. 

(2) The Project Sponsor currently is not the subject of bankruptcy, insolvency, or 
reorganization proceedings and is not in default of, or otherwise subject to, any agreement or any 
law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, note, resolution, charter or ordinance which 
would currently restrain or enjoin it from entering into, or complying with, this Agreement. 

(3) There is no material action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in 
equity, before any court or public body, pending or, to the best of the Project Sponsor's 
knowledge, threatened, which seeks to restrain or enjoin the Project Sponsor from entering into or 
complying with this Agreement. 

(4) The Project Sponsor shall undertake the Project on its own responsibility, to the 
extent permitted by law. 

Page 235

Item #11.



 

 4 

(5) To the extent permitted by law, the Project Sponsor shall release and hold harmless 
the State, its officers, members, and employees from any claim arising in connection with the 
Project Sponsor's actions or omissions in its Design Activities financed by this Loan. 

(6) All Project Sponsor representations to the Department, pursuant to the Loan 
Application and Agreement, were true and accurate as of the date such representations were 
made.  The financial information delivered by the Project Sponsor to the Department was current 
and correct as of the date such information was delivered.  The Project Sponsor shall comply with 
Chapter 62-552, Florida Administrative Code, and all applicable State and Federal laws, rules, 
and regulations which are identified in the Loan Application or Agreement. To the extent that any 
assurance, representation, or covenant requires a future action, the Project Sponsor shall take such 
action to comply with this agreement. 

(7) The Project Sponsor shall maintain records using Generally Accepted Accounting 
principles established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board.  As part of its bookkeeping 
system, the Project Sponsor shall keep accounts of the Utility System separate from all other 
accounts and it shall keep accurate records of all revenues, expenses, and expenditures relating to 
the Utility System, and of the Pledged Revenues, Loan disbursement receipts, and Loan Debt 
Service Account. 

(8) In the event the anticipated Pledged Revenues are shown by the Project Sponsor’s 
annual budget to be insufficient to make the Semiannual Loan Payments for such Fiscal Year 
when due, the Project Sponsor shall include in such budget other legally available non-ad valorem 
funds which will be sufficient, together with the Pledged Revenues, to make the Semiannual Loan 
Payments.  Such other legally available non-ad valorem funds shall be budgeted in the regular 
annual governmental budget and designated for the purpose provided by this Subsection, and the 
Project Sponsor shall collect such funds for application as provided herein.  The Project Sponsor 
shall notify the Department immediately in writing of any such budgeting of other legally 
available non-ad valorem funds.  Nothing in this covenant shall be construed as creating a pledge, 
lien, or charge upon any such other legally available non-ad valorem funds; requiring the Project 
Sponsor to levy or appropriate ad valorem tax revenues; or preventing the Project Sponsor from 
pledging to the payment of any bonds or other obligations all or any part of such other legally 
available non-ad valorem funds. 

(9) Pursuant to Section 216.347 of the Florida Statutes, the Project Sponsor shall not use 
this Loan for the purpose of lobbying the Florida Legislature, the Judicial Branch, or a State 
agency. 

(10) The Project Sponsor agrees to complete the Design Activities in accordance with the 
schedule set forth in Section 10.07.  Delays incident to strikes, riots, acts of God, and other events 
beyond the reasonable control of the Project Sponsor are excepted.  However, there shall be no 
resulting diminution or delay in the Semiannual Loan Payment or the Monthly Loan Deposit.  

(11) The Project Sponsor covenants that this Agreement is entered into for the purpose of 
completing Design Activities in order to construct facilities which will, in all events, serve a 
public purpose. 

Page 236

Item #11.



 

 5 

2.02. LEGAL AUTHORIZATION. 

Upon signing this Agreement, the Project Sponsor’s legal counsel hereby expresses the 
opinion, subject to laws affecting the rights of creditors generally, that: 

(1) This Agreement has been duly authorized by the Project Sponsor and shall constitute 
a valid and legal obligation of the Project Sponsor enforceable in accordance with its terms upon 
execution by both parties; and 

(2) This Agreement identifies the revenues pledged for repayment of the Loan, and the 
pledge is valid and enforceable. 

2.03. AUDIT AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS. 

The Project Sponsor agrees to the following audit and monitoring requirements. 

(1) The financial assistance authorized pursuant to this Loan Agreement consists of the 
following: 

Federal Resources, Including State Match, Awarded to the Recipient Pursuant to this 
Agreement Consist of the Following: 

Federal Program 
Number 

Federal 
Agency 

CFDA 
Number CFDA Title 

Funding 
Amount 

State 
Appropriation 

Category 

4D-02D37923-0 EPA 66.468 

Capitalization 
Grants for 

Drinking Water 
State Revolving 

Fund 

$2,171,400 140129 

 
(2) Audits.  

(a) In the event that the Project Sponsor expends $750,000 or more in Federal awards in 
its fiscal year, the Project Sponsor must have a Federal single audit conducted in accordance with 
the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F.  In determining the Federal awards expended in its 
fiscal year, the Project Sponsor shall consider all sources of Federal awards, including Federal 
resources received from the Department.  The determination of amounts of Federal awards 
expended should be in accordance with the guidelines established by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F.  
An audit of the Project Sponsor conducted by the Auditor General in accordance with the 
provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, will meet the requirements of this part.   

(b) In connection with the audit requirements addressed in the preceding paragraph (a), 
the Project Sponsor shall fulfill the requirements relative to auditee responsibilities as provided in 
2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F. 

(c) If the Project Sponsor expends less than $750,000 in Federal awards in its fiscal year, 
an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, is not 
required.  The Project Sponsor shall inform the Department of findings and recommendations 

Page 237

Item #11.



 

 6 

pertaining to the State Revolving Fund in audits conducted by the Project Sponsor.  In the event 
that the Project Sponsor expends less than $750,000 in Federal awards in its fiscal year and elects 
to have an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, the 
cost of the audit must be paid from non-Federal resources (i.e., the cost of such an audit must be 
paid from Project Sponsor resources obtained from other than Federal entities).   

(d) The Project Sponsor may access information regarding the Catalog of Federal 
Domestic Assistance (CFDA) via the internet at https://sam.gov/.  

(3) Report Submission. 

(a) Copies of reporting packages for audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 
200, Subpart F, and required by Subsection 2.03(2) of this Agreement shall be submitted, when 
required by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, by or on behalf of the Project Sponsor directly to each of 
the following: 

(i) The Department at one of the following addresses: 

By Mail: 
 Audit Director 
Florida Department of Environmental Protection 
Office of the Inspector General, MS40 
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-30000 

Electronically: 
FDEPSingleAudit@dep.state.fl.us 

(ii) The Federal Audit Clearinghouse designated in 2 CFR Section 200.501(a) at the 
following address: 

https://harvester.census.gov/facweb/  

(iii) Other Federal agencies and pass-through entities in accordance with 2 CFR Section 
200.512. 

(b) Pursuant to 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, the Project Sponsor shall submit a copy of the 
reporting package described in 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, and any management letters issued by 
the auditor, to the Department at the address listed under Subsection 2.03(3)(a)(i) of this 
Agreement. 

(c) Any reports, management letters, or other information required to be submitted to the 
Department pursuant to this Agreement shall be submitted timely in accordance with 2 CFR Part 
200, Subpart F, Florida Statutes, or Chapters 10.550 (local governmental entities) or 10.650 
(nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor General, as applicable. 

(d) Project Sponsors, when submitting financial reporting packages to the Department for 
audits done in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, or Chapters 10.550 (local 
governmental entities) or 10.650 (nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor 

Page 238

Item #11.



 

 7 

General, should indicate the date that the reporting package was delivered to the Project Sponsor 
in correspondence accompanying the reporting package. 

(4) Record Retention. 

The Project Sponsor shall retain sufficient records demonstrating its compliance with the 
terms of this Agreement for a period of five years from the date of the Final Amendment, and 
shall allow the Department, or its designee, Chief Financial Officer, or Auditor General access to 
such records upon request.  The Project Sponsor shall ensure that working papers are made 
available to the Department, or its designee, Chief Financial Officer, or Auditor General upon 
request for a period of five years from the date of the Final Amendment, unless extended in 
writing by the Department. 

(5) Monitoring. 

In addition to reviews of audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, 
as revised (see audit requirements above), monitoring procedures may include, but not be limited 
to, on-site visits by Department staff, limited scope audits as defined by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart 
F., and/or other procedures.  By entering into this Agreement, the Project Sponsor agrees to 
comply and cooperate with any monitoring procedures/processes deemed appropriate by the 
Department.  In the event the Department determines that a limited scope audit of the Project 
Sponsor is appropriate, the Project Sponsor agrees to comply with any additional instructions 
provided by the Department to the Project Sponsor regarding such audit.  The Project Sponsor 
understands its duty, pursuant to Section 20.055(5), F.S., to cooperate with the Inspector General 
in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing.  The Project Sponsor will comply with 
this duty and ensure that any subcontracts issued under this Agreement will impose this 
requirement, in writing, on its subcontractors. 

ARTICLE III - LOAN REPAYMENT ACCOUNT 

3.01. LOAN DEBT SERVICE ACCOUNT. 

The Project Sponsor shall establish a Loan Debt Service Account with a Depository and 
begin making Monthly Loan Deposits no later than the date set forth for such action in 
Section 10.07 of this Agreement. 

Beginning six months prior to each Semiannual Loan Payment, the Project Sponsor shall 
make six Monthly Loan Deposits.  The first five deposits each shall be at least equal to one-sixth 
of the Semiannual Loan Payment.  The sixth Monthly Loan Deposit shall be at least equal to the 
amount required to make the total on deposit in the Loan Debt Service Account equal to the 
Semiannual Loan Payment amount, taking into consideration investment earnings credited to the 
account pursuant to Section 3.02.   

Any month in which the Project Sponsor fails to make a required Monthly Loan Deposit, 
the Project Sponsor’s chief financial officer shall notify the Department of such failure.  In 
addition, the Project Sponsor agrees to budget, by amendment if necessary, payment to the 
Department from other legally available non-ad valorem funds all sums becoming due before the 
same become delinquent.  This requirement shall not be construed to give superiority to the 

Page 239

Item #11.



 

 8 

Department's claim on any revenues over prior claims of general creditors of the Project Sponsor, 
nor shall it be construed to give the Department the power to require the Project Sponsor to levy 
and collect any revenues other than Pledged Revenues. 

3.02. INVESTMENT OF LOAN DEBT SERVICE ACCOUNT MONEYS. 

Moneys on deposit in the Loan Debt Service Account shall be invested pursuant to the 
laws of the State of Florida.  Such moneys may be pooled for investment purposes.  The maturity 
or redemption date of investments shall be not later than the date upon which such moneys may 
be needed to make Semiannual Loan Payments.  The investment earnings shall be credited to the 
Loan Debt Service Account and applied toward the Monthly Loan Deposit requirements. 

3.03. LOAN DEBT SERVICE ACCOUNT WITHDRAWALS. 

The withdrawal of moneys from the Loan Debt Service Account shall be for the sole 
purpose of making the Semiannual Loan Payment or for discharging the Project Sponsor’s 
obligations pursuant to Section 8.01. 

3.04. ASSETS HELD IN TRUST. 

The assets in all accounts created under this Loan Agreement shall be held in trust for the 
purposes provided herein and used only for the purposes and in the manner prescribed in this 
Agreement; and, pending such use, said assets shall be subject to a lien and charge in favor of the 
Department.   

ARTICLE IV - PROJECT INFORMATION 

4.01. PROJECT CHANGES. 

After the Department's environmental review has been completed, the Project Sponsor 
shall promptly notify the Department, in writing, of any Project change that would require a 
modification to the environmental information document.  

4.02. CLOSE-OUT. 

The Department shall conduct a final inspection of the Design Activities records. 
Following the inspection, deadlines for submitting additional disbursement requests, if any, shall 
be established, along with deadlines for uncompleted Loan requirements, if any.  Deadlines shall 
be incorporated into the Loan Agreement by amendment.   After the Department establishes the 
final costs to be financed by the Loan, the itemized costs will be adjusted by amendment.  The 
Loan principal shall be reduced by any excess over the amount required to pay all approved costs.  
As a result of such adjustment, the Semiannual Loan Payment shall be reduced accordingly, as 
addressed in Section 10.05.  

4.03. DISBURSEMENTS.   

Disbursements shall be made only by the State Chief Financial Officer and only when the 
requests for such disbursements are accompanied by a Department certification that such 

Page 240

Item #11.



 

 9 

withdrawals are proper expenditures.  Disbursements shall be made directly to the Project 
Sponsor for reimbursement of the incurred design costs and related services.  Disbursements for 
materials, labor, or services shall be made upon receipt of the following: 

(1) A completed disbursement request form signed by the Authorized Representative.  
Such requests must be accompanied by sufficiently itemized summaries of the materials, labor, or 
services to identify the nature of the work performed; the cost or charges for such work; and the 
person providing the service or performing the work; and proof of payment. 

(2) A certification signed by the Authorized Representative as to the current estimated 
costs of the Project; that the materials, labor, or services represented by the invoice have been 
satisfactorily purchased, performed, or received. 

(3) Such other certificates or documents by engineers, attorneys, accountants, 
contractors, or suppliers as may reasonably be required by the Department. 

Requests by the Project Sponsor for disbursements of the design funds shall be made 
using the Department’s disbursement request form.  The Department reserves the right to retain 
25% of the funds until the information necessary for the Department to prepare the Environmental 
Information Document as described in Rule 62-552.680, Florida Administrative Code, has been 
provided. 

ARTICLE V - RATES AND USE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM 

5.01. RATE COVERAGE. 

The Project Sponsor shall maintain rates and charges for the services furnished by the 
Utility System which will be sufficient to provide, in each Fiscal Year, Pledged Revenues equal to 
or exceeding 1.15 times the sum of the Semiannual Loan Payments due in such Fiscal Year.  In 
addition, the Project Sponsor shall satisfy the coverage requirements of all Senior Revenue Debt 
and Parity Debt obligations. 

5.02. NO FREE SERVICE. 

The Project Sponsor shall not permit connections to, or furnish any services afforded by, 
the Utility System without making a charge therefore based on the Project Sponsor's uniform 
schedule of rates, fees, and charges. 

5.03. RESERVED.  

5.04. NO COMPETING SERVICE. 

The Project Sponsor shall not allow any person to provide any services which would 
compete with the Utility System so as to adversely affect Gross Revenues. 

Page 241

Item #11.



 

 10 

5.05. MAINTENANCE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM. 

The Project Sponsor shall operate and maintain the Utility System in a proper, sound and 
economical manner and shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements. 

5.06. ADDITIONS AND MODIFICATIONS. 

The Project Sponsor may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the 
Utility System which it deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the operational 
integrity of any part of the Utility System.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, 
modifications and improvements shall become part of the Utility System. 

5.07. COLLECTION OF REVENUES. 

The Project Sponsor shall use its best efforts to collect all rates, fees and other charges due 
to it.  The Project Sponsor shall establish liens on premises served by the Utility System for the 
amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges where such action is permitted by law.  The 
Project Sponsor shall, to the full extent permitted by law, cause to discontinue the services of the 
Utility System and use its best efforts to shut off water service furnished to persons who are 
delinquent beyond customary grace periods in the payment of Utility System rates, fees and other 
charges. 

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

6.01. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. 

Upon the occurrence of any of the following events (the Events of Default) all obligations 
on the part of Department to make any further disbursements hereunder shall, if Department 
elects, terminate.  The Department may, at its option, exercise any of its remedies set forth in this 
Agreement, but Department may make any disbursements or parts of disbursements after the 
happening of any Event of Default without thereby waiving the right to exercise such remedies 
and without becoming liable to make any further disbursement: 

(1) Failure to make any Monthly Loan Deposit or to make any installment of the 
Semiannual Loan Payment when it is due and such failure shall continue for a period of 15 days. 

(2) Except as provided in Subsection 6.01(1) failure to comply with the provisions of this 
Agreement, failure in the performance or observance of any of the covenants or actions required 
by this Agreement or the Suspension of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to Section 
8.11 below, and such failure shall continue for a period of 30 days after written notice thereof to 
the Project Sponsor by the Department. 

(3) Any warranty, representation or other statement by, or on behalf of, the Project 
Sponsor contained in this Agreement or in any information furnished in compliance with, or in 
reference to, this Agreement, which is false or misleading, or if Project Sponsor shall fail to keep, 
observe or perform any of the terms, covenants, representations or warranties contained in this 
Agreement, the Note, or any other document given in connection with the Loan (provided, that 
with respect to non-monetary defaults, Department shall give written notice to Project Sponsor, 

Page 242

Item #11.



 

 11 

which shall have 30 days to cure any such default), or is unable or unwilling to meet its 
obligations thereunder. 

(4) An order or decree entered, with the acquiescence of the Project Sponsor, appointing 
a receiver of any part of the Utility System or Gross Revenues thereof; or if such order or decree, 
having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the Project Sponsor, shall not be 
vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days after the entry thereof. 

(5) Any proceeding instituted, with the acquiescence of the Project Sponsor, for the 
purpose of effecting a composition between the Project Sponsor and its creditors or for the 
purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or 
hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are payable from Gross Revenues of the Utility 
System. 

(6) Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding instituted by, or against, the 
Project Sponsor under federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereafter in effect 
and, if instituted against the Project Sponsor, is not dismissed within 60 days after filing. 

(7) Any charge is brought alleging violations of any criminal law in the implementation 
of the Project or the administration of the proceeds from this Loan against one or more officials of 
the Project Sponsor by a State or Federal law enforcement authority, which charges are not 
withdrawn or dismissed within 60 days following the filing thereof. 

(8) Failure of the Project Sponsor to give immediate written notice of its knowledge of a 
potential default or an event of default, hereunder, to the Department and such failure shall 
continue for a period of 30 days. 

6.02. REMEDIES. 

All rights, remedies, and powers conferred in this Agreement and the transaction 
documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other rights or remedies, and they shall be 
in addition to every other right, power, and remedy that Department may have, whether 
specifically granted in this Agreement or any other transaction document, or existing at law, in 
equity, or by statute. Any and all such rights and remedies may be exercised from time to time 
and as often and in such order as Department may deem expedient. Upon any of the Events of 
Default and subject to the rights of others having prior liens on the Pledged Revenues, the 
Department may enforce its rights by, inter alia, any of the following remedies: 

(1) By mandamus or other proceeding at law or in equity, cause to establish rates and 
collect fees and charges for use of the Utility System, and to require the Project Sponsor to fulfill 
this Agreement. 

(2) By action or suit in equity, require the Project Sponsor to account for all moneys 
received from the Department or from the ownership of the Utility System and to account for the 
receipt, use, application, or disposition of the Pledged Revenues. 

(3) By action or suit in equity, enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in 
violation of the rights of the Department. 

Page 243

Item #11.



 

 12 

(4) By applying to a court of competent jurisdiction, cause to appoint a receiver to 
manage the Utility System, establish and collect fees and charges, and apply the revenues to the 
reduction of the obligations under this Agreement. 

(5) By certifying to the Auditor General and the Chief Financial Officer delinquency on 
loan repayments, the Department may intercept the delinquent amount plus six percent, expressed 
as an annual interest rate, penalty of the amount due to the Department from any unobligated 
funds due to the Project Sponsor under any revenue or tax sharing fund established by the State, 
except as otherwise provided by the State Constitution or State law.  Penalty interest shall accrue 
on any amount due and payable beginning on the 30th day following the date upon which 
payment is due. 

(6) By notifying financial market credit rating agencies and potential creditors. 

(7) By suing for payment of amounts due, or becoming due, with interest on overdue 
payments together with all costs of collection, including attorneys' fees. 

(8) By accelerating the repayment schedule or increasing the interest rate on the unpaid 
principal of the Loan to as much as 1.667 times the Loan interest rate. 

6.03. DELAY AND WAIVER. 

No course of dealing between Department and Project Sponsor, or any failure or delay on 
the part of Department in exercising any rights or remedies hereunder, shall operate as a waiver of 
any rights or remedies of Department, and no single or partial exercise of any rights or remedies 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver or preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies 
hereunder.  No delay or omission by the Department to exercise any right or power accruing upon 
Events of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any 
such default or acquiescence therein, and every such right and power may be exercised as often as 
may be deemed expedient.  No waiver or any default under this Agreement shall extend to or 
affect any subsequent Events of Default, whether of the same or different provision of this 
Agreement, or shall impair consequent rights or remedies. 

ARTICLE VII - THE PLEDGED REVENUES 

7.01. SUPERIORITY OF THE PLEDGE TO THE DEPARTMENT. 

From and after the effective date of this Agreement, the Department shall have a lien on 
the Pledged Revenues, which along with any other Department State Revolving Fund liens on the 
Pledged Revenues, of equal priority, will be prior and superior to any other lien, pledge or 
assignment with the following exception.  All obligations of the Project Sponsor under this 
Agreement shall be junior, inferior, and subordinate in all respects in right of payment and 
security to the Senior Revenue Debt defined in Section 1.01 of this Agreement and to any 
additional senior obligations issued with the Department’s consent pursuant to Section 7.02.  The 
Department may release its lien on such Pledged Revenues in favor of the Department if the 
Department makes a determination in its sole discretion, based upon facts deemed sufficient by 
the Department, that the remaining Pledged Revenues will, in each Fiscal Year, equal or exceed 
1.15 times the debt service coming due in each Fiscal Year under the terms of this Agreement. 

Page 244

Item #11.



 

 13 

7.02. ADDITIONAL DEBT OBLIGATIONS. 

The Project Sponsor may issue additional debt obligations on a parity with, or senior to, 
the lien of the Department on the Pledged Revenues provided the Department’s written consent is 
obtained.  Such consent may be granted if the Project Sponsor demonstrates at the time of such 
issuance that the Pledged Revenues, which may take into account reasonable projections of 
growth of the Utility System and revenue increases, plus revenues to be pledged to the additional 
proposed debt obligations will, during the period of time Semiannual Loan Payments are to be 
made under this Agreement, equal or exceed 1.15 times the annual combined debt service 
requirements of this Agreement and the obligations proposed to be issued by the Project Sponsor 
and will satisfy the coverage requirements of all other debt obligations secured by the Pledged 
Revenues.  

ARTICLE VIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

8.01. DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS. 

All Semiannual Loan payments required to be made under this Agreement shall be 
cumulative and any deficiencies in any Fiscal Year shall be added to the payments due in the 
succeeding year and all years thereafter until fully paid.  Payments shall continue to be secured by 
this Agreement until all of the payments required shall be fully paid to the Department.  If at any 
time the Project Sponsor shall have paid, or shall have made provision for the timely payment of, 
the entire principal amount of the Loan and interest, the pledge of, and lien on, the Pledged 
Revenues to the Department shall be no longer in effect.  Deposit of sufficient cash, securities, or 
investments, authorized by law, from time to time, may be made to effect defeasance of this Loan.  
However, the deposit shall be made in irrevocable trust with a banking institution or trust 
company for the sole benefit of the Department.  There shall be no penalty imposed by the 
Department for early retirement of this Loan. 

8.02. PROJECT RECORDS AND STATEMENTS. 

Books, records, reports, engineering documents, contract documents, and papers shall be 
available to the authorized representatives of the Department for inspection at any reasonable time 
after the Project Sponsor has received a disbursement and until five years after the Final 
Amendment date. 

8.03. ACCESS TO PROJECT SITE. 

The Project Sponsor shall provide access to offices and other sites where Design Activities 
or Project work (if financed by this Loan) is ongoing, or has been performed, to authorized 
representatives of the Department at any reasonable time.  The Project Sponsor shall cause its 
engineers and contractors to provide copies of relevant records and statements for inspection.  

8.04. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER AGREEMENT. 

The Department may assign any part of its rights under this Agreement after notification 
to the Project Sponsor.  The Project Sponsor shall not assign rights created by this Agreement 
without the written consent of the Department. 

Page 245

Item #11.



 

 14 

8.05. AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT. 

This Agreement may be amended, except that no amendment shall be permitted which is 
inconsistent with statutes, rules, regulations, executive orders, or written agreements between the 
Department and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).  A Final Amendment 
establishing the final costs financed by this Loan and the actual Loan Service Fee shall be 
completed after the Department’s final inspection of relevant documents and records.  

8.06. ABANDONMENT, TERMINATION OR VOLUNTARY CANCELLATION. 

Failure of the Project Sponsor to actively prosecute or avail itself of this Loan (including 
e.g. described  in para 1 and 2 below) shall constitute its abrogation and abandonment of the 
rights hereunder, and the Department may then, upon written notification to the Project Sponsor, 
suspend or terminate this Agreement. 

(1) Failure of the Project Sponsor to draw Loan proceeds within eighteen months after 
the effective date of this Agreement, or by the date set in Section 10.07 to establish the Loan Debt 
Service Account, whichever date occurs first. 

 
(2) Failure of the Project Sponsor, after the initial Loan draw, to draw any funds under 

the Loan Agreement for twenty-four months, without approved justification or demonstrable 
progress on the Project. 

Upon a determination of abandonment by the Department, the Loan will be suspended, 
and the Department will implement administrative close out procedures (in lieu of those in 
Section 4.02) and provide written notification of Final Unilateral Amendment to the Project 
Sponsor.  

In the event that following the execution of this Agreement, the Project Sponsor decides 
not to proceed with this Loan, this Agreement can be cancelled by the Project Sponsor, without 
penalty, if no funds have been disbursed.  

8.07. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE. 

If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid or unenforceable provision had not 
been contained herein. 

8.08. RESERVED. 

8.09. PUBLIC RECORDS ACCESS. 

(1) The Project Sponsor shall comply with Florida Public Records law under Chapter 
119, F.S.  Records made or received in conjunction with this Agreement are public records under 
Florida law, as defined in Section 119.011(12), F.S. The Project Sponsor shall keep and maintain 
public records required by the Department to perform the services under this Agreement. 
 

Page 246

Item #11.



 

 15 

(2) This Agreement may be unilaterally canceled by the Department for refusal by the 
Project Sponsor to either provide to the Department upon request, or to allow inspection and 
copying of all public records made or received by the Project Sponsor in conjunction with this 
Agreement and subject to disclosure under Chapter 119, F.S., and Section 24(a), Article I, Florida 
Constitution. 

 
(3) IF THE PROJECT SPONSOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING 

THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
PROJECT SPONSOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS 
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE DEPARTMENT’S 
CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT (850)245-2118, by email at 
public.services@dep.state.fl.us, or at the mailing address below: 

 
Department of Environmental Protection 
ATTN: Office of Ombudsman and Public Services 
Public Records Request 
3900 Commonwealth Blvd, MS 49  
Tallahassee, FL 32399 

8.10. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. 

(1) The Project Sponsor certifies that it and its subcontractors are not on the Scrutinized 
Companies that Boycott Israel List. Pursuant to Section 287.135, F.S., the Department may 
immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the Project Sponsor or its 
subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification; or if the Project Sponsor, or its 
subcontractors are placed on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List or is engaged in 
the boycott of Israel during the term of the Agreement. 

 
(2) If this Agreement is for more than one million dollars, the Project Sponsor certifies 

that it and its subcontractors are also not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan, 
Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged with 
business operations in Cuba or Syria as identified in Section 287.135, F.S. Pursuant to Section 
287.135, F.S., the Department may immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the 
Project Sponsor, its affiliates, or its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false 
certification; or if the Project Sponsor, its affiliates, or its subcontractors are placed on the 
Scrutinized Companies that Boycott the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, or 
Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged with 
business operations in Cuba or Syria during the term of the Agreement. 

 
(3) The Project Sponsor agrees to observe the above requirements for applicable 

subcontracts entered into for the performance of work under this Agreement. 
 
(4) As provided in Subsection 287.135(8), F.S., if federal law ceases to authorize these 

contracting prohibitions then they shall become inoperative. 
 

Page 247

Item #11.



 

 16 

8.11. SUSPENSION.   
 

The Department may suspend any or all of its obligations to Loan or provide financial 
accommodation to the Project Sponsor under this Agreement in the following events, as 
determined by the Department: 
 

(1) The Project Sponsor abandons or discontinues the Project before its completion, 
 
(2) The commencement, prosecution, or timely completion of the Project by the Project 

Sponsor is rendered improbable or the Department has reasonable grounds to be insecure in 
Project Sponsor’s ability to perform, or  

 
(3) The implementation of the Project is determined to be illegal, or one or more officials 

of the Project Sponsor in responsible charge of, or influence over, the Project is charged with 
violating any criminal law in the implementation of the Project or the administration of the 
proceeds from this Loan. 
 

The Department shall notify the Project Sponsor of any suspension by the Department of 
its obligations under this Agreement, which suspension shall continue until such time as the event 
or condition causing such suspension has ceased or been corrected, or the Department has re-
instated the Agreement. 

 
Project Sponsor shall have no more than 30 days following notice of suspension hereunder 

to remove or correct the condition causing suspension. Failure to do so shall constitute a default 
under this Agreement. 
 

Following suspension of disbursements under this Agreement, the Department may 
require reasonable assurance of future performance from Project Sponsor prior to re-instating the 
Loan.  Such reasonable assurance may include, but not be limited to, a payment mechanism using 
two party checks, escrow or obtaining a Performance Bond for the work remaining.  
 

Following suspension, upon failure to cure, correct or provide reasonable assurance of 
future performance by Project Sponsor, the Department may exercise any remedy available to it 
by this Agreement or otherwise and shall have no obligation to fund any remaining Loan balance 
under this Agreement.  

8.12. CIVIL RIGHTS. 

The Project Sponsor shall comply with all Title VI requirements of the Civils Rights Act 
of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Equal Employment Opportunity 
requirements (Executive Order 11246, as amended) which prohibit activities that are intentionally 
discriminatory and/or have a discriminatory effect based on race, color, national origin (including 
limited English proficiency), age, disability, or sex. 

Page 248

Item #11.



 

 17 

ARTICLE IX – RESERVED 

ARTICLE X - DETAILS OF FINANCING 

10.01. PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF LOAN. 

The principal amount of the Loan is $2,195,000, which includes $2,171,400 to be 
disbursed to the Project Sponsor and $23,600 of Capitalized Interest. 

Capitalized Interest is not disbursed to the Project Sponsor, but is amortized via periodic 
Loan repayments to the Department as if it were actually disbursed.  Capitalized Interest is 
computed at the interest rate, or rates, set for the Loan.  It accrues and is compounded annually 
from the time when disbursements are made until six months before the first Semiannual Loan 
Payment is due.  Capitalized Interest is estimated prior to establishment of the schedule of actual 
disbursements.  

10.02. LOAN SERVICE FEE.  

 
The Loan Service Fee is estimated as $43,428 for the Loan amount authorized to date.  

The fee represents two percent of the Loan amount excluding Capitalized Interest; that is, two 
percent of $2,171,400.  The Loan Service Fee is estimated at the time of execution of the loan 
agreement and shall be revised with any increase or decrease amendment.  The Loan Service Fee 
is based on actual Project costs and will be assessed in the final Loan amendment. The Project 
Sponsor shall pay the Loan Service Fee from the first available repayments following the Final 
Amendment. 

10.03. INTEREST RATE. 

The rate of interest on the unpaid principal of the Loan amount specified in Section 10.01 
is 2 percent per annum.  However, if this Agreement is not executed by the Project Sponsor and 
returned to the Department before April 1, 2024, the interest rate may be adjusted.   

10.04. LOAN TERM. 

The Loan term shall be 10 years. 

10.05. REPAYMENT SCHEDULE. 

Repayments shall be made semiannually (twice per year).  The Semiannual Loan Payment 
shall be computed based upon the principal amount of the Loan plus the estimated Loan Service 
Fee and the principle of level debt service.  The Semiannual Loan Payment amount may be 
adjusted, by amendment of this Agreement, based upon revised information.  After the final 
disbursement of Loan proceeds, the Semiannual Loan Payment shall be based upon the actual 
Project costs, the actual Loan Service Fee and Loan Service Fee capitalized interest, if any, and 
actual dates and amounts of disbursements, taking into consideration any previous payments.  
Actual Project costs shall be established after the Department's inspection of the completed 
Project and associated records.  The Department will deduct the Loan Service Fee and any 
associated interest from the first available repayments following the Final Amendment. 

Page 249

Item #11.



 

 18 

Each Semiannual Loan Payment shall be in the amount of $124,043 until the payment 
amount is adjusted by amendment.  The interest portion of each Semiannual Loan Payment shall 
be computed on the unpaid balance of the principal amount of the Loan, which includes 
Capitalized Interest.  Interest also shall be computed on the unpaid balance of the Loan Service 
Fee.  Interest on the unpaid balance shall be computed as of the due date of each Semiannual 
Loan Payment.  

Unless repayment is deferred by an amendment to this Agreement, Semiannual Loan 
Payments shall be received by the Department beginning on October 15, 2025 and semiannually 
thereafter on April 15 and October 15 of each year until all amounts due hereunder have been 
fully paid.  Funds transfer shall be made by electronic means. 

The Semiannual Loan Payment amount is based on the total amount owed of $2,238,428, 
which consists of the Loan principal and the estimated Loan Service Fee. 

10.06. PROJECT COSTS. 

The Project Sponsor and the Department acknowledge that actual Project costs have not 
been determined as of the effective date of this Agreement.  An adjustment may be made due to a 
reduction in the scope of work proposed for Loan funding as a result of the planning process.  
Capitalized Interest will be recalculated based on actual dates and amounts of Loan 
disbursements.  The final costs shall be established in the final amendment.  Changes in costs may 
also occur as a result of the Project Sponsor's audit or the Department's audit.   

The Project Sponsor agrees to the following estimates of the Project costs: 
 

CATEGORY PROJECT COSTS ($) 
Design Activities 2,171,400 
Capitalized Interest 23,600 

TOTAL (Loan Principal Amount)    2,195,000 
10.07. SCHEDULE. 

All Design Activities shall be completed no later than the completion dates set forth below 
to enable the Department to accept the engineering documents. 

(1) This Agreement shall be effective on August 9, 2023.  Invoices submitted for work 
conducted on or after this date shall be eligible for reimbursement. 

(2) Completion of all Design Activities for all Project facilities proposed for loan funding 
no later than April 15, 2025. 

(3) Unless deferred by amendment, establish the Loan Debt Service Account and begin 
Monthly Loan Deposits no later than April 15, 2025. 

(4) The first Semiannual Loan Payment in the amount of $124,043 shall be due  
October 15, 2025. 

Page 250

Item #11.



 

 19 

10.08. SPECIAL CONDITIONS. 

 
Prior to execution of this Agreement, the following items must be submitted: 

(1) A signed Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act certification; and 

(2) A signed contract between the engineering consulting firm and the Project Sponsor 
with specific details of the design work to be completed. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Page 251

Item #11.



 

 20 

ARTICLE XI - EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT 

This Loan Agreement DW100440 may be executed in two or more counterparts, any of 
which shall be regarded as an original and all of which constitute but one and the same 
instrument.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Department has caused this Agreement to be executed on 
its behalf by the Secretary or Designee and the Project Sponsor has caused this Agreement to be 
executed on its behalf by its Authorized Representative and by its affixed seal.  The effective date 
of this Agreement shall be as set forth below by the Department. 

for 
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 

_________________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: I attest to the opinion expressed in Section 
2.02, entitled Legal Authorization. 

______________________________________ 
City Clerk 

______________________________________ 
City Attorney 

SEAL  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

for 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

________________________________________     _______________________ 
Secretary or Designee         Date 

Page 252

Item #11.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Owens Subdivision, a replat of a portion of Block 46, North Suburbs of Green Cove 

Springs, identified as 900 and 902 Myrtle Avenue 
 

BACKGROUND 

Austin Burke, the agent for property owner David Owens, has submitted a replat of the two lots, 900 and 

902 Myrtle Avenue and is proposing to divide them into three lots for single family residential 

development.  The total acreage of the two lots are 1.62 acres which will be divided into 3 lots that are 

.53, .54 and .56 acres respectively.   The zoning of this parcel is R-1, which requires a minimum of 70’ of 

lot width and 7,000 square feet of lot area.   

This plat has been reviewed by City Staff and on the City’s behalf by CHW for compliance with Chapter 

177, Florida Statutes.  

Approval of this replat will enable residential development which conforms with surrounding 

development and meets City Zoning Code requirements. 

Attachments: 

- Plat Page 1 

- Plat Page 2 

- Boundary Survey 

- Title Certification 

- Site Plan 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This replat will establish three appropriately sized lots and enable three single-family residential homes 

to be developed in the Core City. This in-fill development will add to the City’s tax base in an area where 

City services are already provided.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the Owens Subdivision plat and authorize the Mayor to sign the plat. 
 

Page 253

Item #12.



Page 254

Item #12.



Page 255

Item #12.



Page 256

Item #12.



Page 257

Item #12.



Page 258

Item #12.



0.0

9.5

9.6

9.6

MYRTLE AVENUE

CL
AY

 S
TR

EE
T

A
us

tin
R

ay
P

ri
nt

ed
 B

y:
D

ec
 1

1,
 2

02
3 

- 
11

:1
1a

m
T:

\J
o

b
s\

23
\2

3-
16

 O
w

en
s 

Lo
t\

D
es

ig
n\

D
w

g
s\

P
lo

ts
\2

3-
16

 M
S

ite
.d

w
g

P
ri

nt
ed

:

O
W

EN
S 

LO
T

D
AV

ID
 O

W
EN

S

23-16

OCTOBER 2023

4

M
AS

TE
R

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN

1" = 20'

Page 259

Item #12.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54'00" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
300'±(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 25°54' W

AutoCAD SHX Text
293'±(D) 290'±(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°59'57" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
122.20'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
240'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54'00" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
105.00'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 25°50'12" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
200.00'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 61°34' E

AutoCAD SHX Text
122'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
122.00'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 61°46'54" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54'00" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
307'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
317'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 25°50'12" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
Right-of-way Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
123'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Northwesterly 123'±(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Present Water's Edge 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T.    J O H N ' S     R I V E R 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Closing Line Only Not a Boundary 

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Set Witness Corner

AutoCAD SHX Text
  Lot 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Block 46

AutoCAD SHX Text
Block 46

AutoCAD SHX Text
  Lot 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9 Acres %%p

AutoCAD SHX Text
Address: #900

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parent Tract

AutoCAD SHX Text
C L A Y     S T R E E T     (50' R/W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
M Y R T L E     A V E N U E     (50' R/W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
56.2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Zone "AE"

AutoCAD SHX Text
Shaded Zone "X"

AutoCAD SHX Text
Unshaded

AutoCAD SHX Text
Zone "X"

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approximate Location of 100 Year Flood Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approximate Location of 0.2% Chance Flood Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
58.45'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 61°50'17" E 45.00'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54'00" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.00'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 30°05'52" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
76'±(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°46'54" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.10'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54'00" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
95.46'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.00'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°34' W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°50'12" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.00'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 61°54'06" E 45.00'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 30°02'03" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
86'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
72'±(D) 72'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
51'±(D) 51'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5 Acres %%p

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parcel 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4 Acres %%p

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parcel 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parent Tract & Parcel 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parcel 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING Benchmark

AutoCAD SHX Text
107'±(A) 100'±(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Southeast Corner of Lot 1,

AutoCAD SHX Text
Block 46

AutoCAD SHX Text
-018011-000-00

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parcel #38-06-26

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 61°28'12" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
121.98'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54'06" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
200.50'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°34' W

AutoCAD SHX Text
122'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54' E

AutoCAD SHX Text
275'±(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parcel 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
122.19'(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°42'40" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 25°54'06" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
274'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Southeasterly 130'±(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
125'±(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8 Acres %%P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Parcel 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
Address: #902

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Closing Line Only Not a Boundary 

AutoCAD SHX Text
14.1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Set Nail in 24" Oak Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text
Elevation = 12.05' Assumed

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Water Meter

AutoCAD SHX Text
Top of Iron Rod, Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text
= 10.49' Assumed

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Set Nail in Power Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Elevation = 10.88', Assumed

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,5' Curb & Gutter

AutoCAD SHX Text
Center Line of Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
Manhole - Invert = 5.23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SIDE SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SIDE SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SIDE SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SIDE SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SIDE SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SIDE SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' FRONT SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' FRONT SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' FRONT SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' REAR SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' REAR SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' REAR SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
274'

AutoCAD SHX Text
81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
307'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BLACKSTONE ENGINEERING AND IS NOT TO BE REPRODUCED OR COPIED IN WHOLE OR IN PART. IT IS NOT TO BE USED ON ANY OTHER PROJECT AND IS TO BE RETURNED ON REQUEST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
REG. ENGINEER

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.E. NUMBER: 93523

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUSTIN T. RAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. LOT SIZE (SF)

AutoCAD SHX Text
R-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,000

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGN STANDARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(1) TOGETHER WITH AN ATTACHED OR DETACHED ENCLOSED GARAGE OF AT LEAST TEN FEET BY 20 FEET. ATTACHED GARAGES SHALL BE ARCHITECTURALLY INTEGRATED INTO THE DESIGN OF THE DWELLING AND STRUCTURALLY CONNECTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
70

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. LOT WIDTH (FEET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. REQUIRED FRONT YARD (FEET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. REQUIRED REAR YARD (FEET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. REQUIRED SIDE YARD (FEET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. LIVING AREA (SF)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,250

AutoCAD SHX Text
(1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAX. LOT COVERAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
35%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAX. STRUCTURE HEIGHT (FEET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT SUMMARY 1. TOTAL SITE AREA......................................................1.63 ACRES 2. PARCEL ID............................38-06-26-018009-000-00 AND ..................................................38-06-26-018010-000-00 3. DEVELOPMENT..............3 SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED DWELLINGS 4. EXISTING AND PROPOSED ZONING........................................R-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 900 MYRTLE AVENUE A PART OF BLOCK 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  PART OF BLOCK 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, PART OF BLOCK 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  OF BLOCK 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, OF BLOCK 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  BLOCK 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, BLOCK 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, 46, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, NORTH SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, SUBURBS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, COVE SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, SPRINGS, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY,  OF CLAY COUNTY, OF CLAY COUNTY,  CLAY COUNTY, CLAY COUNTY,  COUNTY, COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS. COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE CORNER OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE OF BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE BLOCK 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE 45, RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE RUN THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE THENCE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE 54 MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE MINUTES EAST, ALONG THE  EAST, ALONG THE EAST, ALONG THE  ALONG THE ALONG THE  THE THE NORTHERLY LINE OF CLAY STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  LINE OF CLAY STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME LINE OF CLAY STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  OF CLAY STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME OF CLAY STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  CLAY STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME CLAY STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME STREET A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME OF 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME 240 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAME  CONTINUING ALONG SAME CONTINUING ALONG SAME  ALONG SAME ALONG SAME  SAME SAME COURSE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS EAST A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS A DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS DISTANCE OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS OF 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS 300 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS MORE OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS OR LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS LESS, TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS TO THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS  LINE OF ST. JOHNS LINE OF ST. JOHNS  OF ST. JOHNS OF ST. JOHNS  ST. JOHNS ST. JOHNS  JOHNS JOHNS RIVER; THENCE MEANDERING NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  THENCE MEANDERING NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR THENCE MEANDERING NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  MEANDERING NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR MEANDERING NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR ALONG THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR THE WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR WATER LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR LINE OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR OF ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR ST. JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR JOHNS RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR RIVER A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR A DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR DISTANCE OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  OF 123 FEET, MORE OR OF 123 FEET, MORE OR  123 FEET, MORE OR 123 FEET, MORE OR  FEET, MORE OR FEET, MORE OR  MORE OR MORE OR  OR OR LESS, TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; SOUTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; DEGREES 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; 54 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; WEST A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; A DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; DISTANCE OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; OF 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; 293 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT; MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT;  OR LESS, TO A POINT; OR LESS, TO A POINT;  LESS, TO A POINT; LESS, TO A POINT;  TO A POINT; TO A POINT;  A POINT; A POINT;  POINT; POINT; THENCE SOUTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  SOUTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL SOUTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  DEGREES 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL DEGREES 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL 34 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL EAST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL OF 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL 122 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL THE POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL POINT OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL OF BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL BEGINNING, TOGETHER WITH ALL  TOGETHER WITH ALL TOGETHER WITH ALL  WITH ALL WITH ALL  ALL ALL RIPARIAN RIGHTS THEREUNTO BELONGING. 902 MYRTLE AVENUE COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  NORTHWEST CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS NORTHWEST CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS CORNER OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS OF CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS CLAY STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS STREET AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AND SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS SAINT JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS JOHNS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AVENUE IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS IN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  GREEN COVE SPRINGS GREEN COVE SPRINGS  COVE SPRINGS COVE SPRINGS  SPRINGS SPRINGS AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 240 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE; THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND DISTANCE OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND OF 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND 122 FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND FEET TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND TO AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND AN IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND IRON AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND OR PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND BEGINNING; THENCE TURN AND  THENCE TURN AND THENCE TURN AND  TURN AND TURN AND  AND AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS EAST A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS A DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS DISTANCE OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS OF 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS 290 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS MORE OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS OR LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS LESS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS TO THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS  OF THE SAINT JOHNS OF THE SAINT JOHNS  THE SAINT JOHNS THE SAINT JOHNS  SAINT JOHNS SAINT JOHNS  JOHNS JOHNS RIVER; FROM THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  FROM THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET FROM THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET OR PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET PLACE OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET OF BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET BEGINNING THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET THENCE RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET RUN NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET NORTH 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET 61 DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET DEGREES 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET 34 MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET WEST A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET A DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  DISTANCE OF 122 FEET DISTANCE OF 122 FEET  OF 122 FEET OF 122 FEET  122 FEET 122 FEET  FEET FEET TO AN IRON; THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  AN IRON; THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE AN IRON; THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  IRON; THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE IRON; THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE THENCE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE TURN AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE AND RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE RUN NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE NORTH 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE 25 DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE DEGREES 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE 54 MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE EAST A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE A DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE DISTANCE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE OF 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE 275 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE  MORE OR LESS TO THE MORE OR LESS TO THE  OR LESS TO THE OR LESS TO THE  LESS TO THE LESS TO THE  TO THE TO THE  THE THE SHORES OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  SAINT JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A SAINT JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A JOHNS RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A RIVER; THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A THENCE TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A TURN AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A AND RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A ALONG THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A THE SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A SHORE OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A OF THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A THE SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  SAINT JOHNS RIVER A SAINT JOHNS RIVER A  JOHNS RIVER A JOHNS RIVER A  RIVER A RIVER A  A A DISTANCE OF 130 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  OF 130 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS OF 130 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  130 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS 130 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS OR LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS LESS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS TO THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS THE POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS POINT WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS WHERE THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS THE FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS FIRST CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS CALL ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS ABOVE MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS MENTIONED REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS REACHES THE SAINT JOHNS  THE SAINT JOHNS THE SAINT JOHNS  SAINT JOHNS SAINT JOHNS  JOHNS JOHNS RIVER; BEING A LOT IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  BEING A LOT IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, BEING A LOT IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  A LOT IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, A LOT IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  LOT IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, LOT IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, IN THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, THE RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, RE-SUBDIVISION (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, (UNRECORDED) OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, OF BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, BLOCKS 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 45 AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, AND 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 46, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, NORTH SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, SUBURBS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  GREEN COVE SPRINGS, GREEN COVE SPRINGS,  COVE SPRINGS, COVE SPRINGS,  SPRINGS, SPRINGS, AS SHOWN ON MAP OR PLAT IN PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 1, PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA.



Page 260

Item #12.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 12, 2024 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: City Council authorization to surplus sound system equipment and donate to Clamour Theatre 

Company. Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City owns two sound systems.  The larger of the two systems has been used once since it was purchased 

in 2011.  This system utilizes outdated technology, requires a certain level of expertise to operate, and is 

utilizing valuable storage space.  Most audio technicians today would utilize a laptop computer and software 

to replace the 24-channel mixer and speakers have become smaller and more efficient.  City staff has been 

considering surplussing this system for the last few years. 

The City was recently approached by the Clamour Theatre Company about possibly donating the equipment 

to them.  They are a registered 501(c)(3) and they have members with the expertise to operate this system.  

Staff recommends declaring this equipment surplus and donation to the Clamour Theatre Company.  The 

equipment list is as follows: 

Sound Board 
Furman M-8LX  Power Conditioner “Merit Series” (2 w/ case) 
Drive Rack PX Power Speaker  
Lexicon MX200 
Onyx 24-4 
Premium 24-Chanel Console 
2 Speakers 
JBL by Harman 
PRX618S 
Loudspeaker System 
65’ snake and assorted cords 

The City will retain the small sound system and all microphones to be used for small events. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A  

RECOMMENDATION 

Declare as surplus the sound system equipment listed above and donate to Clamour Theatre Company.. 
 

Page 261

Item #13.



1

Mike Null

From: Elaine Smith <esmith@clamourtheatre.org>
Sent: Saturday, January 13, 2024 9:17 AM
To: Mike Null
Subject: Steve Kennedy suggested I get in touch re GCS unused sound system(s)
Attachments: esmith.vcf

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. .  Do not click links or open 
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Dear Mr. Null, 

I am the Artistic Director of the Clamour Theatre Company, a 501(c)(3) with a mission to bring professional 
theatre to Clay County. 

A couple of our Board Members recently spoke to Mr. Kennedy and understood from him that the City of 
Green Cove Springs has 2 sound systems that are not being used.  They also understood that because we are a 
501(c)(3), Green Cove might consider donating one of the systems to us.   

Mr. Kennedy suggested we get in touch with you to either get the details about the two systems, if available, or 
arrange for 2 of us to come see the equipment and decide which system might best suit our needs.   

If donation is indeed a possibility, we would love to be considered.  Since we currently have no permanent 
home and have to rent venues that often do not have necessary equipment, and since we've found that the costs 
of renting lights and sound have more than quadrupled since 2019, we are presently fundraising to acquire 
lighting and sound equipment.  A donation would be a huge benefit to us. 

If this is, indeed, a possibility, would you be able to either email details about the equipment (make and model 
#s would allow us to do some online research) or provide a couple of possible dates/times when I and a board 
member could view the equipment? 

Thank you so much for your help! 

Elaine Smith 

 

--  
Elaine Smith (she/her) 
Producing Artistic Director 
Clamour Theatre Company 
Let's Make a Noise! 
 
https://link.edgepilot.com/s/cad9bf32/_D1ens8chUeoh317ypfL1w?u=http://www.clamourtheatre.org/ 
 
 
We respectfully acknowledge that the land on which we live and work is on the traditional lands of the 

Page 262

Item #13.



2

Seminole and Timucua Nations. We acknowledge them and any other Nations who care for the land 
(acknowledged and unacknowledged, recorded and unrecorded) as past, present, and future caretakers 
of this land. We do not support colonial forces that undermine, distort, or erase the vital role of 
Indigenous people in our world. #HonorNativeLand  
 
 
Links contained in this email have been replaced. If you click on a link in the email above, the link will be 
analyzed for known threats. If a known threat is found, you will not be able to proceed to the destination. 
If suspicious content is detected, you will see a warning.  

Page 263

Item #13.



1

Mike Null

From: Elaine Smith <esmith@clamourtheatre.org>
Sent: Thursday, February 22, 2024 6:35 AM
To: Mike Null; Kim Thomas
Cc: Cheryl Kennedy
Subject: Sound System follow-up
Attachments: esmith.vcf

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. .  Do not click links or open 
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Good morning!   

We have reviewed the list of sound equipment and located online manuals for almost all of the equipment on 
the list. 

Clamour Theatre Company would be VERY grateful if the City of Green Cove Springs decided to surplus these 
items and would consider donating one or both systems to our company. 

If you decide we are only eligible to receive one system, the larger system with the 24-channel mixer would be 
most useful to us.  We can, however, make good use of both systems if you would consider a donation of all 
your unused sound equipment. 

Please let me know if you need us to complete any forms, submit a letter to you or the City Council as a whole, 
or provide any other items as a formal request. 

Thank you so much! 

Elaine 

--  
Elaine Smith (she/her) 
Producing Artistic Director 
Clamour Theatre Company 
Let's Make a Noise! 
 
https://link.edgepilot.com/s/e8328a3d/fWytfoo0pkuADP9OWpkXNA?u=http://www.clamourtheatre.org/ 
 
 
We respectfully acknowledge that the land on which we live and work is on the traditional lands of the 
Seminole and Timucua Nations. We acknowledge them and any other Nations who care for the land 
(acknowledged and unacknowledged, recorded and unrecorded) as past, present, and future caretakers 
of this land. We do not support colonial forces that undermine, distort, or erase the vital role of 
Indigenous people in our world. #HonorNativeLand  
 
 
Links contained in this email have been replaced. If you click on a link in the email above, the link will be 

Page 264

Item #13.



2

analyzed for known threats. If a known threat is found, you will not be able to proceed to the destination. 
If suspicious content is detected, you will see a warning.  

Page 265

Item #13.



INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE
P. O. BOX 2508
CINCINNATI, OH 45201

AUG012017
Employer Identification Number:

81-4529821
DLN:

17053095318017
Contact Person:
JERRY FIERRO ID# 31119

Contact Telephone Number:
(877) 829-5500

Accounting Period Ending:
December 31

Public Charity Status:
509 (a) (2)

Form 990/990-EZ/990-N Required:
Yes

Effective Date of Exemption:
November 21, 2016

Contribution Deductibility:
Yes

Addendum Applies:
No

CLAMOUR THEATRE COMPANY INC
c/O ELAINE SMITH
PO BOX 9055
FLEMING ISLAND, FL 32006

We're pleased to tell you we determined you're exempt from federal income tax
under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 501(c) (3). Donors can deduct
contributions they make to you under IRC Section 170. You're also qualified
to receive tax deductible bequests, devises, transfers or gifts under
Section 2055, 2106, or 2522. This letter could help resolve questions on your
exempt status. Please keep it for your records.

organizations exempt under IRC Section 501(c) (3) are further classified as
either public charities or private foundations. We determined you're a public
charity under the IRC Section listed at the top of this letter.

If we indicated at the top of this letter that you're required to file Form
990/990-EZ/990-N, our records show you're required to file an annual
information return (Form 990 or Form 990-EZ) or electronic notice (Form 990-N,
the e-Postcard). If you don't file a required return or notice for three
consecutive years, your exempt status will be automatically revoked.

If we indicated at the top of this letter that an addendum applies, the
enclosed addendum is an integral part of this letter.

For important information about your responsibilities as a tax-exempt
organization, go to www.irs.gov/charities. Enter 14221-PC" in the search bar
to view Publication 4221-PC, Compliance Guide for 501(c) (3) Public Charities,
which describes your recordkeeping, reporting, and disclosure requirements.

Page 266

Item #13.

http://www.irs.gov/charities.


Director, Exempt Organizations
Rulings and Agreements

Page 267

Item #13.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council regular session MEETING DATE: 3/12/2024 

FROM: Steve Thomas 

SUBJECT: Spring Park dock project pay app # 2 to C&H Marine in the amount of $70,131.61.  Steve 

Thomas 
 

BACKGROUND 

City Council approved a Legislative Line Item appropriation from DEP to extend the Kayak dock and 

add to boat house and lifts to hold the city police boat and possibly the Sheriff’s boat as well in Spring 

Park. Dockworks of Northeast Florida LLC dba C&H marine was the low bidder and the City Council 

approved award of the bid in the amount of $276,495.00 at the October 3, 2023 meeting. Staff is coming 

to you for approval of the 2nd pay application in the amount of $70,131.61. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

001-3072-5006300 - $ 70,131.61 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of Pay application # 2 in the amount of $ 70131.61 to Dock works of North 

East Florida LLC dba C&H Marine. 
 

Page 268

Item #14.



Page 269

Item #14.



Page 270

Item #14.



Page 271

Item #14.



CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 

PROCLAMATION, LETTER OF HONOR, 

AND KEY TO THE CITY 

APPLICATION FORM 

Return completed form to the City Clerk’s Office 

City of Green Cove Springs, 321 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL  32043 

Requestor’s Name:  

Requestor’s Address: 

Requestor’s Telephone and Email:  

Person/Organization to be Honored: 

Event Title:  

Event Date, Time & Location: 

Type of Honor Requested: 

Proclamation     Letter of Honor   Key to the City 

Provide a detailed reason for the request including a list of accomplishments and how the 

individual/organization benefits the quality of life in the City of Green Cove Springs.  For 

Proclamations, provide a sample Proclamation or text for the “WHEREAS” clauses (attach 

additional sheets, if necessary): 

The Offices of the Mayor and City Clerk reserve the right to use submitted facts as deemed 

appropriate and may request additional information when necessary. 

Rev. George L. Reed, Jr.
 549 N. Palmetto Ave., Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

 904-402-0626   
 Mt. Zion African Methodist Episcopal (AME) Church

100th Birthday of Historical Significancefor Mrs. Alice Johnson Williams

March 24, 2024, 3 p.m.- 4:00 p.m., Mt. Zion African

Methodist Episcopal Church, 549 N. Palmetto Ave., Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Mrs. Alice Johnson Williams has remarkably lived over 36,525 days having recently turned 100, and

who now approaches her 101st birthday in 2024, the same year that the City of Green

Cove Springs celebrates its 150th commemorative year. Mrs. Williams

comes from a family who contributed to the well-being and care of this

community, especially for generations of African American youths, and her

beloved Mt. Zion AME Church, the oldest Black church in Clay County. (See Attachment)

✔

Page 272

Item #15.



Proclamation 
WHEREAS, Mrs. Alice Johnson Williams was born October 22, 1923 in Green Cove Springs, Florida; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mrs. Williams is the daughter of William (Green Cove Springs, FL) and Alice Johnson (Aiken, 
SC) who lived to 90 years of age, and is a granddaughter to her paternal grandmother, Mrs. Margaret 
Johnson (married William “Willie” Johnson) was known to have sold land to the Atlantic Railway and other 
property on the coast of St. Johns River with some deeded to their children; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mrs. Williams’ siblings included three brothers and two sisters, namely Willie, who served in 
the U.S. Navy; Roosevelt, who joined the U.S. Army; Rudette, who was a musician; Marie who lived until 
99 years old and whose employment included the Afro-American Life Insurance Company that was 
founded by Florida’s first Black millionaire Abraham Lincoln Lewis of Jacksonville; and Theda, an educator 
and owner of a private kindergarten school in Green Cove Springs; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mrs. Williams  attended then “Dunbar School” at Walburg Street and Cypress Avenue her 
entire school life, and graduated  in 1942 as an athlete on the Dunbar Girls Basketball Team; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mrs. Williams was married to one husband, Isaiah Williams, and traveled internationally with 
him during his military career living in England and Germany along the way, but returning to her beloved 
Green Cove Springs, Florida, where she has impacted the lives of generations of youth at her church, Mt. 
Zion AME Church-Green Cove Springs, Florida, through past volunteerism as a director of its Youth 
Department coordinating several youth-selected and church-sponsored programs and activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mrs. Williams has survived as a community centenarian at 100 years old plus, was featured 
in the Clay Today newspaper, and is the eldest living member of Mt. Zion AME Church. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City of Green Cove Springs hereby recognizes and celebrates the 100th Birthday of 
Mrs. Alice Johnson Williams, and all that she has contributed to youths and the 
community over her lifetime. 

 
Section 2. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City 

Council of the City of Green Cove Springs. 
 

DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 2ND DAY OF APRIL, 2024. 

        
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 
              
       Constance W. Butler, Mayor 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
              
       Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 273

Item #15.


	Top
	Item #1.	FMPA - March 2024
	FMPA Monthly Report March 2024-word
	EC-Agenda-Package-2024-02-15

	Item #2.	Final Reading O-05-2024
	City Staff Report - O-05-2024
	Ordinance No. O-05-2024 - Granting Special Powers re Security - Magnolia West
	Letters and Resolution 06-2023

	Item #3.	Final Reading O-06-2024
	City Staff Report - O-06-2024
	Ordinance No. O-06-2024 - Business Impact Ordinance
	O-06-2024 Attachments

	Item #4.	CA: Public Safety Telecommunicators Week
	National Public Safety Telecommunicators Week - April 2024

	Item #5.	CA: Water Conservation Month
	Water Conservation Month - April 2024

	Item #6.	CA: Mt. Zion Church - 151
	Proclamation-Letter-of-Honor-and-Key-to-the-City-Application-Form-PDF 2024
	Mt. Zion Church - 2024

	Item #7.	Cleaning and TV Services, Cove Subdivsion
	Staff Report - Cove subdivision APS
	2225 - The Cove proposal (1)
	Agreement with Atlantic Pipe Services, LLC - April 2023 (2)

	Item #8.	FBIP Grant Resolution
	Staff Report - FBIP grant app and R-06-2024 031224
	fbip-application CNS EDIT
	Table of Contents
	Resolution No. R-06-2024 - FBIP Grant

	Item #9.	Lift station #326 Rehabilitation
	Lift Station Rehab Pump Staff Report, 3-12-2024
	RCM LS 326 Rehab Quote
	Completed_2023-072_Agreement - Clermont

	Item #10.	LS# 318 Mitigation Property Purchase
	Mitigation Property Purchase 3-12-24 Staff Report
	Magnolia Point Option to Purchase
	Executed Sundew Mitigation Bank Contract

	Item #11.	MP Reclaimed Water and Reynolds WTP Improvements SRF Loan 100440
	MP Reclaimed Water & Reynolds WTP Improvements Staff Report, 3-12-2024
	Green Cove Springs - DW100440

	Item #12.	Owens Subdivision - Minor Subdivision
	Staff Report_CC_Owens Subdivision
	Owens' Plat Final 01.29.24
	Boundary Survey
	900 Myrtle Ave Title (1)
	902 Myrtle Ave Title
	Site Plan
	Owens Owner Affidavit

	Item #13.	Sound system surplus
	Staff Report - sound system surplus - Clamour Theatre - 031224
	Clamour Theatre request email 1
	Clamour Theatre request email 2
	IRS Determination Letter - 501(c)(3) status - Clamour Theatre Company 

	Item #14.	Spring Park dock project Pay app#2 to C&H Marine in the amount of $ 70,131.61
	Spring park kayak dock project pay app  1
	Pay App No 2 C&H marine

	Item #15.	CA: Alice Johnson Williams - 100th birthday
	Proclamation-Letter-of-Honor-and-Key-to-the-City-Application-Form-PDF- Williams2024
	Alice Johnson Williams - 2024

	Bottom



Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		fbip-application (1).pdf




		Report created by: 

		

		Organization: 

		




[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 2

		Passed manually: 0

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 1

		Passed: 29

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Needs manual check		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Needs manual check		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top
